
 
 

 

City of Keene Planning Board  
 

AGENDA 
 

Monday, November 25, 2024  6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 
 

I. Call to Order – Roll Call 
 

II. Minutes of Previous Meeting – October 28, 2024 
 

III. Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 
 

IV. Public Hearings 
 

a. PB-2024-15 – Major Site Plan – Monadnock Conservancy, 0 Ashuelot St - Applicant the 
Monadnock Conservancy, on behalf of owner JRR Properties LLC, proposes to construct 
a ~6,215-sf office building and make associated site improvements on the parcel at 0 
Ashuelot St (TMP #567-001-000). The parcel is ~3.53-ac in size and is located in the 
Commerce District. 
 

b. PB-2024-16 – Major Site Plan – Kia, 440 Winchester St - Applicant Hutter Construction 
Corp, on behalf of owner 434-440 Winchester LLC, proposes to construct a new ~15,365-
sf Kia dealership in place of the existing ~9,950-sf building and make associated site 
modifications on the property at 440 Winchester St (TMP #115-004-000). A Surface Water 
CUP is requested for temporary impacts within the 30’ wetland buffer. Waivers are 
requested from Section 20.14.3.D, Section 21.7.3.C, and Section 21.7.4.A.1 of the LDC to 
allow for parking in front of the building and allowed lighting levels. The parcel is 2.23-ac 
in size and is located in the Commerce Limited District. 
 

V. Master Plan Update (https://keenemasterplan.com/)  
 

VI. Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage, Screening, & Landscaping 
 

VII. Staff Updates 
 
VIII. New Business 

 
IX. Upcoming Dates of Interest 

• Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – December 9th, 6:30 PM 
• Planning Board Steering Committee – December 3rd, 11:00 AM 
• Planning Board Site Visit –December 11th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed 
• Planning Board Meeting – December 16th, 6:30 PM 

1 of 92

https://keenemasterplan.com/


City of Keene 1 
New Hampshire 2 

 3 
 4 

PLANNING BOARD 5 
MEETING MINUTES 6 

 7 
Monday, October 28, 2024 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
            City Hall  8 
Members Present: 
Harold Farrington, Chair 
Roberta Mastrogiovanni, Vice Chair  
Mayor Jay V. Kahn 
Councilor Michael Remy 
Sarah Vezzani 
Armando Rangel 
Kenneth Kost 
Michael Hoefer, Alternate 
Stephon Mehu, Alternate 

Members Not Present: 
Ryan Clancy 
Randyn Markelon, Alternate 
Tammy Adams, Alternate 

Staff Present: 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
Megan Fortson, Planner 
 

I) Call to Order 9 
Chair Farrington called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and a roll call was taken 10 
 11 
II) Minutes of the Previous Meeting – September 23, 2024 12 

 13 
Chair Farrington offered the following corrections: 14 
Line 183 – add the word “access” 15 
After Line 197 – add the phrase “the Chairman closed the public hearing” 16 
After Line 234 – insert the phrase “original proposal by the applicant” 17 
Line 254 – delete the word “but” not parallel to the wheels 18 
Line 445 – “not parallel to the wheels” 19 
 20 
A motion was made by Mayor Kahn that the Planning Board accept the September 23, 2024 21 
meeting minutes as amended. The motion was seconded by Roberta Mastrogiovanni and was 22 
unanimously approved by roll call vote. 23 
 24 

III) Final Vote on Conditional Approvals 25 
 26 
The Chairman stated, as a matter of practice, the Board will now issue a final vote on all 27 
conditionally approved plans after all of the “conditions precedent” have been met.  28 

2 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 2 of 20 
 

This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 29 
He asked whether there were any applications tonight that are ready for a final vote. 30 
Ms. Brunner stated there are two applications that are ready for a final vote this evening. 31 

The first is project is CLSS-CUP-03-23, Congregate Living and Social Services Conditional Use 32 
Permit, for the Keene Serenity Center located at 24 Vernon Street. Ms. Brunner stated this 33 
application came before the committee almost a year ago, and the only condition that they had to 34 
meet was getting their license, which they received in September. They have now met all their 35 
conditions of approval and are looking for final approval. 36 

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board issue final approval for 37 
CLSS-CUP-03-23. The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost and carried on a unanimous vote. 38 

 39 

The second project for final approval was the Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit project PB-40 
2024-09 for 30 High Street. This was to add a third unit within the existing building of a two-unit 41 
structure. There were three conditions attached to this application. 42 

The first condition was the owner's signature appears on the proposed plot plan, the second was 43 
submittal of five color paper copies of the approved plan, and the third was security in an amount 44 
acceptable to the Community Development Department to cover the cost of landscaping. Ms. 45 
Brunner stated that all three of those conditions have been met. 46 

A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board issue final approval for 47 
PB-2024-09. The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost and carried on a unanimous vote. 48 

 49 
IV) Public Hearings  50 

a. PB-2024-13 – 2-Lot Subdivision – Habitat for Humanity, 0 Old Walpole Rd – 51 
Applicant Monadnock Land Planning, on behalf of owner Monadnock Habitat for Humanity 52 
Inc., proposes to subdivide the ~7.18-ac parcel at 0 Old Walpole Rd (TMP #503-005-000) into 53 
two lots ~2.35-ac and ~4.83-ac in size. The parcel is located in the Rural District. 54 
 55 
 56 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 57 
 58 
Planner Mari Brunner recommended the Board accept the application as complete. 59 
 60 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni to accept Application PB-2024-13 as complete. 61 
The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost and was unanimously approved.  62 
 63 
B. Public Hearing 64 
Mr. Dave Bergeron of Monadnock Land Planning began by introducing Matt Keenan 65 
Monadnock Habitat for Humanity. 66 
 67 
Mr. Keenan indicated Monadnock Habitat for Humanity is a nonprofit 501C3 affiliate of the 68 
International Habitat for Humanity. Their mission is to build affordable workforce housing so 69 
that it can be turned over through a no interest mortgage to a partner family. 70 

3 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 3 of 20 
 

The applicant puts in 300 hours of sweat equity to build their home. Mr. Keenan stated they 71 
fundraise to purchase land and materials and rely on volunteer labor to keep the cost down, 72 
which makes the home affordable for these partner families. 73 
 74 
He noted they have been in the area since 1991 and have built 16 homes in the southwestern part 75 
of the state. The most recent house they built was in 2020. He added that when they move 76 
applicants into homes it frees up homes for Keene Housing Authority.  77 
 78 
Mayor Kahn stated during the site visit the Board learned about the number of years covenants 79 
are placed on the properties by virtue of habitat being the developer. He asked for added 80 
clarification on this issue. Mr. Keenan explained because it is affordable housing, Habitat for 81 
Humanity holds the mortgage. The applicant pays them through no interest mortgage payments 82 
on a monthly basis. Habitat for Humanity has first right of refusal to purchase the home if the 83 
applicant needs to relocate or can't make the payments, and then they turn it into  a home for 84 
another affordable housing family. 85 
 86 
He added in the mortgage they write deed restrictions for the applicant to sell, but they also give 87 
Habitat for Humanity the opportunity to take the home back and put another family in the home. 88 
 89 
The Mayor clarified that this remains affordable housing beyond the life of the first owner. Mr. 90 
Keenan answered in the affirmative. There are provisions in place so that the homeowner can’t 91 
sell the property and take all the savings. He added there is a silent mortgage Habitat for 92 
Humanity gets back if anything happens, and they have to sell. If Habitat for Humanity can’t 93 
afford to purchase the home back from the partner family with the first right of refusal, the 94 
provision goes away. The partner family  can sell the home to whoever they want, but Habitat for 95 
Humanity gets that silent mortgage as funding for the next home. 96 
 97 
Mr. Kost asked whether or not there is a time period of commitment as a requirement so that a 98 
homeowner cannot sell the home for profit. Mr. Keenan stated it is for the length of the 99 
mortgage, which is typically 30 years. He added since 1991 the first mortgage was just paid off 100 
in August. This is the first family that has gone through the whole process. 101 
 102 
Mr. Bergeron addressed the Board next and referred to Old Walpole Road as well as the street 103 
which heads towards Surry on the map. It is a seven-acre parcel with frontage along Old Walpole 104 
Road. There are wetlands delineated on the property. There are two homes being proposed for 105 
the site. The first lot would be 2.3 acres in size and the second lot would be about 4.8 acres in 106 
size. He noted that some steep slopes are located to the rear of the site.  107 
 108 
As far as water and sewer for these lots – there is access to water and sewer on site. 109 
Test pits have been completed to determine where those septic systems can be located. Areas on 110 
both lots that will be able to support septic systems and will be part of a State Subdivision 111 
approval, which will be also submitted for this property. 112 
 113 
For fire protection, there is a fire hydrant directly across the street. Mr. Bergeron noted the entire 114 
site is currently wooded and described the area that would be cleared where the building sites 115 
and the septic systems would go, while the remainder of the lot would remain fully wooded. 116 

4 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 4 of 20 
 

 117 
There will also be some wooded area along the front of the property that will be maintained. 118 
There will be a single driveway that will come into property line, which will service both house 119 
sites. This concludes Mr. Bergeron’s presentation.  120 
 121 
Mr. Kost noted all the wooded areas, steep slopes, and wetlands, and he asked whether the 122 
applicant was planning on placing any protections, such as a conservation easement. Mr. 123 
Bergeron stated he had a discussion with the City Assessor about placing a conservation 124 
easement on the land and whether it would be economically feasible for such a small piece of 125 
property. He indicated the issue with most conservation easements is that there needs to be 126 
someone who maintains that easement. Most of the time, the person who maintains the easement 127 
is from the Forest Society or a similar group; however, this is such a small piece of property, so 128 
it would be difficult to get someone interested in it. 129 
 130 
Mr. Bergeron stated at the very least they have talked about placing deed restrictions which will 131 
prevent further clearing of a lot beyond what is developable area.  132 
 133 
Staff comments were next.  134 
Ms. Brunner addressed the Board. She stated staff has determined this application will have no 135 
regional impact and noted this is something the Board would need to address.  136 
 137 
Next, Ms. Brunner addressed the following items: 138 
Character of Land for Subdivision – She indicated the applicant did a good job explaining the 139 
application. This is a steep lot with wetlands and the developable area is limited, but there is 140 
room for two house lots. Staff recommend a condition of approval for a storm water management 141 
plan for each lot prior to a building permit being issued. Also, she stated that the wetland buffer 142 
should be flagged and inspected by staff prior to site development.  143 
 144 
Scattered or Premature Development – Ms. Brunner stated this area of the city is already 145 
developed and there is no concern regarding emergency access. Both sites can support on-site 146 
septic systems and well. 147 
 148 
Preservation of Existing Features – As mentioned by the applicant, there are steep slopes, 149 
wetlands, tree cover, and a stonewall that runs around the property. All of these would be 150 
preserved, except for the trees in the development area.  151 
 152 
Fire Protection and Water Supply - There is a fire hydrant near the property, so Fire Department 153 
staff had no concerns. 154 
 155 
Utilities – Applicant is not proposing to use city water or sewer. The lots can support septic and a 156 
well. With respect to the septic, New Hampshire DES approval will be required, because both 157 
new lots would be under five acres, which is a recommended condition of approval. 158 
 159 
Shared Driveway – There is a recommended condition of approval regarding this issue. Ms. 160 
Brunner noted that the Board may want to consider requiring a condition of approval submittal 161 

5 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 5 of 20 
 

of language for an easement document so that the neighbors will have clear easement language 162 
in place for use of that shared driveway. 163 
 164 
Ms. Brunner reviewed motion language. This concluded staff comments.  165 
 166 
Mayor Kahn stated in a previous iteration, there was concern about storm water getting onto 167 
abutting properties on Butternut Drive and asked whether this has been reviewed by staff. Ms. 168 
Brunner stated that because she knows who the applicant is and what they are proposing, she 169 
would be surprised if there was a large storm water impact. However, if the lots were to be sold 170 
it would be a different issue, hence the reason for the requirement for a storm water management 171 
plan. 172 
 173 
The Chair asked for public comment next. 174 
 175 
Mr. Nick Bergman of 122 Butternut Drive addressed the Board. He stated he was following up 176 
on discussion at prior meetings, and he felt the applicants were good stewards and have 177 
considered concerns from neighbors. They have reduced the number of houses, and will be using 178 
a shared driveway and locating buffers along the front and rear of the site. He stated he was 179 
happy with this proposal. 180 
 181 
Mr. Bergeron stated he has a general layout for what the lot would look like and has a pretty 182 
good idea what the size of buildings would be and where the driveway is going to be located.  183 
He added their drainage plan will not increase runoff from this property; in addition, what exists 184 
now would be slightly reduced once this development is completed. This is because they are 185 
going to handle the storm water for this development on site. 186 
 187 
Mr. Jeff Kaiser of 118 Butternut Drive was the next speaker. He thanked Habitat for Humanity 188 
for listening to the neighbors and doing such a good job of working with them to come up with a 189 
plan, which he felt is a lot better than the one from a year ago. He felt if this plan is not 190 
approved, anything else that is proposed would be a lot worse, and a different applicant would 191 
not work as well with the neighbors as this applicant did. 192 
 193 
Mr. Kevin of Thatcher of 28 Evans Circle stated he would also like to speak in support of this 194 
application. He stated as a civil engineer the standard of care that the applicant has put in for a 195 
two-lot subdivision is above the norm. He felt this is in keeping with providing affordable 196 
workforce housing and would be a great benefit to the city. 197 
 198 
With no further comment, the Chair closed the public hearing. 199 
 200 
C. Board Discussion and Action 201 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB2024-13 as 202 
shown on the plan set identified as “Subdivision Plan Prepared for Habitat for Humanity, INC.” 203 
prepared by David A Mann Survey at a scale of 1 inch = 80 feet, dated September 3, 2024 with 204 
the following conditions: 205 
 206 

6 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 6 of 20 
 

1. Prior to final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions 207 
precedent shall be met:  208 

a. The owner’s signature appears on the plan.  209 
b. Inspection of lot monuments by the Public Works Director or their designee following 210 

their installation or the submittal of a security deposit in an amount deemed satisfactory 211 
to the Public Works Director to ensure that the monuments will be set. 212 

c. Subdivision approval from the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services 213 
shall be obtained.  214 

d. Submittal of four (4) full sized paper copies, two (2) mylar copies, and a digital copy of 215 
the final plan set. 216 

e. Submittal of a check in the amount of $51.00 made out to the City of Keene to cover 217 
recording fees.  218 

 219 
2. After final approval and signature by the Planning Board Chair, the following conditions shall 220 
be met:  221 

a. Prior to the issuance of a building permit for new residential construction, a stormwater 222 
management plan shall be submitted to the Community Development Department for 223 
review and approval by the City Engineer.  224 

b. At the City Engineer’s discretion, the 75-ft. wetland buffer shall be flagged and inspected 225 
by the Community Development Director or their designee prior to site development. 226 

c. C. Submittal of draft easement language for approval of a shared driveway. 227 
 228 
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn. 229 
 230 
Mr. Hoefer agreed with staff that he sees no regional impact from this application.  231 
 232 
Ms. Vezzani thanked everyone for their comments. She felt it was great they were able to come 233 
back to meet the needs of the neighbors and saw no issue with moving forward with this 234 
proposal. 235 
 236 
Chair Farrington stated that from his perspective he felt it is an excellent proposal and appears to 237 
meet all the standards set forth for subdivision. It also addresses the priority of the neighbors - 238 
storm water impact. 239 
 240 
The motion made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni carried on a unanimous roll call vote. 241 
 242 

 243 
b. PB-2024-14 – Cottage Court Conditional Use Permit, Hillside Protection 244 

Conditional Use Permit, & Major Site Plan – Timberlane Woods Development, 0 Drummer 245 
Rd - Applicant Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of owner Christopher Farris, proposes a 246 
Cottage Court Development consisting of 6 buildings and a total of 36 units on the parcel at 0 247 
Drummer Rd (TMP #515-015-000). A Hillside Protection Conditional Use Permit is requested 248 
for impacts to steep slopes. The parcel is ~13.1-ac in size and is located in the Low Density 249 
District. 250 
 251 
Ms. Vezzani asked to be recused from this application.  252 

7 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 7 of 20 
 

Councilor Remy asked whether a vote needed to be taken for the recusal request. Ms. Brunner 253 
stated there is no vote required for land use boards, but an advisory vote could be requested and 254 
it is up to the individual board member to request recusal. 255 
 256 

A. Board Determination of Completeness 257 
Planner Megan Fortson addressed the Board and stated the applicant has requested an exemption 258 
from submitting a traffic study and other technical reports and analysis. After reviewing each 259 
request, staff have made the preliminary determination that the requested exemptions would have 260 
no bearing on the application and recommend that the Board grant the requested exemptions and 261 
accept the application as complete. 262 
 263 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni to accept Application PB-2024-14 as complete. 264 
The motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn and was unanimously approved by roll call vote. 265 
 266 

B. Public Hearing 267 
Mr. John Noonan from Fieldstone Consultant addressed the Board on behalf of Christopher 268 
Farris. Mr. Noonan stated the proposal is for six buildings with 36 units. This application was 269 
previously approved for five buildings with 30 units. It was approved as a conservation 270 
residential development with nine acres being placed in conservation. However, with the recent 271 
cottage court development being adopted, the applicant is back with six buildings and 36 units.  272 
 273 
He indicated previously there were garages proposed in front of each unit. This proposal has 46 274 
parking spaces with no garages (one parking space per bedroom). The units would be one-275 
bedroom, two-bedroom, and studio/efficiency apartments.  276 
 277 
There will be one central driveway, 24 feet wide, coming off Timberlane Drive. All parking will 278 
be located behind the buildings. There was a waiver request approved as part of the prior 279 
proposal which was granted to locate parking in front of a building, which Mr. Noonan referred 280 
to on the plan. He noted there won’t be any more tree clearing as was indicated during the site 281 
visit. A 32-foot buffer will be maintained along Timberlane Drive. The western portion 282 
containing nine acres will remain undeveloped.  283 
 284 
Mr. Noonan went on to say the applicant would own the property, maintain all the buildings, as 285 
well as maintain pavement, storm water and infrastructure for water and sewer.  286 
 287 
A grading and drainage plan has been submitted, which is the same as before. Collecting 288 
stormwater with closed drainage, open drainage along the upper portions into the closed drainage 289 
and ultimately into a detention basin.   290 
 291 
A utility plan has also been submitted and was also submitted with the prior plan, except this 292 
utility plan will tie into the buildings in the upper portion of the plan.  293 
 294 
Mr. Noonan stated the applicant is also proposing a ground mounted solar array, and the building 295 
to the southeast would have roof mounted solar arrays. 296 
 297 

8 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 8 of 20 
 

Landscaping Plan – Each lot would have bike racks, trees to meet the requirements, and shrubs 298 
in each parking area. The transformer on site would be screened by a dwarf spruce. The central 299 
dumpster would be enclosed by a fence.  300 
 301 
Lighting Plan – Mr. Noonan stated there would be 14-foot-tall pole mounted lights, with the rest 302 
being wall packs residential style lighting. Lighting would be fully cut off LED fixtures. 303 
 304 
Mr. Noonan stated fire access plans were also submitted that shows trucks can get into and out of 305 
the site. The plan also notes that a 200-foot fire hose can access the rear of the site. 306 
 307 
The next exhibit plan is in reference to slope impacts. The prior proposal had 20,000 square feet 308 
for each lot which did not reach that threshold. With the new plan, the impact stands at 54,000 309 
square feet and a Hillside Conditional Use Permit application has been submitted. Mr. Noonan 310 
noted these are all precautionary slopes (15% to 20%). 311 
 312 
Architectural Renderings – Elevations for the buildings have been submitted. Mr. Noonan stated 313 
the applicant is willing to design the buildings to meet the cottage court overlay district 314 
standards. The previous plan called for town house style homes, 2.5 stories, and 30-foot roof 315 
peak height.  316 
 317 
Mr. Christopher Farris addressed the Board and stated the if the Board has an opinion, he was 318 
flexible with the final appearance of the building as they want it to fit in with the neighborhood. 319 
 320 
This concluded the applicant’s comments.  321 
 322 
Mayor Kahn stated removing the first floor garages lowers the profile and allows for surface 323 
parking, which he felt was an improvement. He asked how the remaining parts of the driveway 324 
would address capacity for guest parking or additional parking on the property. 325 
Mr. Noonan stated along each side of the driveway there is a larger gravel shoulder along this 326 
area where the dumpster is located, which could be used for parking.  327 
 328 
The Mayor asked whether 24 feet is sufficient for two way traffic. Mr. Noonan stated that 24 feet 329 
meets the city standard for a town road and is wide enough for two-way traffic. 330 
 331 
Mr. Kost noted the addition of another building would cause more runoff and asked how that is 332 
being handled. Mr. Noonan stated their drainage report included the impervious areas that 333 
increased compared to the prior plan. The way that is being handled is with the use of swales on 334 
either side, and they are also providing a treatment swale at the top and at the bottom of the 335 
driveway and sediment forebay. In addition, main pond areas were increased in size and well as 336 
the detention pond which was also increased in size. Ultimately, this gets submitted for the 337 
Alteration of Terrain Permit which is reviewed by DES.  338 
 339 
Chair Farrington clarified that the elevation with the stairways at the front is not going to be 340 
included. Mr. Farris agreed.  341 
 342 

9 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 9 of 20 
 

Mr. Hoefer stated he prefers this design compared to the original design. He asked how the solar 343 
provides relief to the users, from a net metering standpoint. Mr. Farris stated their intention with 344 
this development is to provide affordable housing and all utility costs will be included in the rent.  345 
The solar would just contribute to that overall savings.  346 
 347 
Chair Farrington noted building three and asked whether it could be rotated 90° or if there are 348 
reasons why it is in its current position. Mr. Noonan stated that in order to work more with the 349 
slope, it is designed to follow the contours of the land. If it is located at the end of the parking 350 
lot, you would have one side that cuts into the hillside and the other side would drop way off. 351 
Mr. Noonan stated they are trying to minimize the slope impacts. 352 
 353 
The Chair asked how addresses for each property would be handled for emergency services 354 
purposes. 355 
  356 
Mr. Noonan stated each building unit would have a 911 address of its own. The interior 357 
driveways would not be named. It would be building one through six and unit numbers.  358 
This would be turned into the city to decide how they want it numbered. 359 
 360 
Mayor Kahn asked whether the applicant was willing to be flexible on the type of housing they 361 
are providing based on housing trends in the community where demand might be for more two-362 
bedroom compared to one-bedroom units. Mr. Farris stated the original plan was all two-363 
bedroom units. He stated it was probably feasible, based on the size of the buildings, to obtain 364 
that. 365 
 366 
This would, however, encompass using the half-story attic space which they were not planning 367 
on utilizing. He added the program they would be using requires a 25% minimum of two-368 
bedroom units, but this can be changed based on need. The Mayor asked staff what this process 369 
would look like.  370 
 371 
Staff comments were next.   372 
 373 
Ms. Fortson addressed the Board and stated, as indicated by the applicant, this is a 13.1-acre tract 374 
which has about 818 feet of frontage along Timberlane Drive and 160 feet of frontage on 375 
Drummer Road. The site is currently forested and undeveloped, although logging has taken place 376 
on the eastern end of the property near Timberlane Drive. Wetlands are present towards the 377 
western portion of the parcel and steep slopes are present on the northeastern portion of the site.  378 
 379 
As indicated by the applicant, this parcel was previously the subject of a Major Site Plan & 380 
Conservation Residential Development (CRD) Subdivision application in 2022. The applicant 381 
has subsequently received three extensions to the timeframe to satisfy the precedent conditions 382 
of approval. Cottage Court Development (CCD) was not an option in 2022 and the applicant is 383 
coming back to the Board to utilize this option so they don’t need to have multiple lots or place 384 
land in conservation.  385 
 386 
The proposed development will consist of six town-home style buildings containing a total of 36 387 
units ranging from studio to two-bedroom units. This proposed development would impact more 388 

10 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 10 of 20 
 

than 20,000 sf of precautionary slopes (15-25% grade), which requires the applicant obtain a 389 
Hillside Protection CUP. Cottage Court Standards outlined in Article 17 of the LDC states if a 390 
development is proposing more than five units, it would require site plan review.  391 
 392 
Ms. Fortson noted staff has made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed development does 393 
not appear to have the potential for regional impact, but the Board will need to make a final 394 
determination on that issue. 395 
 396 
Ms. Forston noted there will be 54,075 sf of impact on precautionary slopes, and the vegetation 397 
clearing seems to be limited to the area required for construction. The plan indicates the site will 398 
be developed based on Best Management Practices for DES Alteration of Terrain Permit 399 
requirement for site stabilization, erosion control measures and stormwater management. Staff 400 
recommend a precedent condition of approval regarding security to cover maintenance of erosion 401 
control measures. Staff also recommend a condition be included regarding a pre-construction 402 
meeting and an inspection of erosion control measures prior to start of site work.  403 
 404 
Precautionary Slope Standards: Ms. Fortson stated as mentioned previously the property owner 405 
logged the proposed development area prior to the issuance of the previous Planning Board 406 
conditional approval in 2022, which is allowed under the Hillside Protection requirement. As 407 
part of this application, the owner will be installing private utility lines in the areas of 408 
precautionary slopes. She noted the Board will need to make a determination as to whether or not 409 
the applicant has sufficiently demonstrated that this site is being developed in the best way 410 
possible. 411 
 412 
View Clearing: The proposed conditions plan on Sheet 3 of the plan set delineates the edge of 413 
the tree clearing. The project narrative states that the extent of this clearing was based on the 414 
location of the 30’ surface water buffer along the western portion of the proposed development 415 
area. The narrative also states that no additional clearing will be required for the site to be 416 
developed. This standard appears to be met. 417 
 418 
Drainage & Stormwater Management: The narrative states that the impervious surfaces on the 419 
site will have stormwater runoff treated and retained on site to meet or reduce the runoff when 420 
compared to the undeveloped state of the property. Planning staff recommend that the Board 421 
consider including the submittal of an approved AOT permit application as a precedent condition 422 
of approval for this application. This standard appears to be met. 423 
 424 
Ms. Fortson next reviewed Cottage Court CUP Regulations: 425 
Multi-family uses or town-style homes are permitted in the Low Density District as long as the 426 
units are attached horizontally and contain between 4-6 total dwelling units per building. The 427 
applicant is proposing six buildings with 36 units. The proposed conditions plan shows the 428 
accessory structures and features to be incorporated into the development, including mail kiosks, 429 
a community garden, dumpster area, playground, dog park, small-scale ground-mounted solar 430 
array, and a picnic area. This standard appears to be met. 431 
 432 
The project narrative states that the development will be located on a single lot and will be 433 
owned by a single entity who will be responsible for all maintenance. Units will be rented out to 434 

11 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 11 of 20 
 

individuals as apartments. The studio apartments are going to be about 512 square feet in size, 435 
the one-bedroom apartments will be 640 square feet and the two-bedroom apartments will be 800 436 
square feet in size.   437 
 438 
Under the Dwelling Unit Size for Cottage Court CUP, all new units in the development could 439 
have a maximum average size of 1,250 square feet of gross floor area per unit and a maximum 440 
footprint of 900-sf per unit. The information provided by the applicant indicates that the total 441 
gross floor area of all units is 23,872 square feet, which averages out to 663 gross floor area per 442 
unit. The narrative states that the footprint of each individual unit will not exceed 900 square 443 
feet. Staff recommend that the submittal of architectural elevations and floor plans prior to the 444 
issuance of a building permit be included as a condition of approval. This standard appears to be 445 
met. 446 
 447 
Parking: The plan shows 46 surface parking spaces, which is one space per bedroom. This 448 
standard appears to be met.  449 
 450 
Building Separation: The two closest buildings will be about 11 feet apart and the Fire Marshal 451 
had no concerns. This standard appears to be met.  452 
 453 
Driveways: Driveways for two-way traffic need a minimum width of 20’ and a maximum width 454 
of 24’.The maximum width is going to be 24’ and a minimum width of 22’. This standard 455 
appears to be met.  456 
 457 
Screening: The project narrative states that the existing vegetative buffer in the development area 458 
is going to remain along Timberlane. Staff recommend a precedent condition of approval to 459 
maintain a vegetative buffer along the perimeter of the developed area. This standard appears to 460 
be met 461 
 462 
Snow Storage: Snow storage areas have been identified on the plan and excess snow is going to 463 
be removed from the site. That standard appears to be met. 464 
 465 
Landscaping: This standard requires that one tree be installed for every 10 parking spaces under 466 
Article 9 of the Land Development Code. The applicant is proposing to install five trees to meet 467 
that requirement, as well as some additional landscaping. This standard appears to be met. 468 
 469 
Screening: The applicant is going to be maintaining a vegetated buffer around the perimeter of 470 
the site. Staff recommend that this be shown on an updated plan and included as a precedent 471 
condition of approval. 472 
 473 
Lighting: This standard appears to be met.  474 
 475 
Water and Sewer: This standard appears to be met 476 
 477 
Traffic and Access Management: The applicant submitted an updated traffic study, which 478 
engineering staff did review and had no concerns about the increase in the number of vehicles for 479 
30 versus 36 units. 480 

12 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 12 of 20 
 

 481 
Filling and Excavation: That standard was met  482 
 483 
Surface Waters and Wetlands: Ms. Fortson stated the only thing that staff recommend as a 484 
condition of approval is that the 30-foot buffer be flagged and subject to inspection by the 485 
Community Development Director prior to the commencement of site work. 486 
 487 
Architecture and Visual Appearance: Mr. Noonan did say that they requested a waiver from this 488 
section of the code. This would be the requirement that all required parking be located to the side 489 
or rear of buildings. Ms. Fortson noted in Article 17, which are the Cottage Court Development 490 
standards, if there is going to be parking located between a unit and the road it needs to be 491 
screened in some way; it can be screened with landscaping in accordance with Article 9 of the 492 
LDC, which is where the parking lot landscaping standards are located. 493 
Ms. Fortson noted this waiver was not necessary, because Article 20 and Article 17 conflict as no 494 
parking is actually located between the units and the road. 495 
 496 
Article 17 takes precedence over Article 20. 497 
 498 
Ms. Fortson reviewed the motion language and noted the one related to a cut sheet for an updated 499 
wall pack light fixture – 1. E. is no longer necessary, given that they have already addressed that. 500 
 501 
Ms. Brunner addressed the Board next and noted what Ms. Fortson stated about Article 17 502 
clearly states that in the instance where there is a conflict between Article 17 and the site 503 
development standards, the standard in Article 17 prevails. Based on the topography of the site, 504 
the building where there is parking proposed to be between the building and the road would not 505 
be visible from the road. Thus, staff concluded that a waiver was not required. 506 
 507 
The next issue Ms. Brunner referred to was in reference to Cottage Court, which has a parking 508 
minimum and a parking maximum. The applicant stated clearly that there are 46 bedrooms and 509 
46 parking spaces, which is the maximum number of parking spaces that are allowed under the 510 
Cottage Court Ordinance. The gravel shoulders along the driveway are technically not parking 511 
spaces. They cannot provide more than 46 parking spaces without going to the ZBA to obtain a 512 
variance. This concluded staff comments.  513 
 514 
Chair Farrington noted the traffic study from VHP came in just a couple weeks ago and asked if 515 
staff were able to review the report. Ms. Forston answered in the affirmative and stated it was 516 
sent to engineering staff who did not see any concern. The Chair clarified it is well below the 517 
100 trips. Staff agreed.  518 
 519 
Mayor Kahn asked staff  what procedure would be followed if the applicant, based on market 520 
conditions, changes the number of specific bedroom sizes. Ms. Forston stated what the Board is 521 
doing is approving the number of units not the layout of those units. If they want to change the 522 
number of units, they would need to come back before the Board. Mayor Kahn stated he was 523 
questioning the change to the number of beds. Ms. Brunner stated in that instance, regarding the 524 
actual mix of the types of units, any change to a conditional use permit must come back to the 525 
Planning Board. A change of that level would have to come back to the Planning Board.  526 

13 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 13 of 20 
 

 527 
Mr. Kost referred to the precautionary slopes standard where it says the Board will need to make 528 
a determination as to whether or not the applicant sufficiently demonstrated it is the most 529 
suitable portion of the site, and asked whether the Board can assume that this is the best place to 530 
build. Additionally, since there is going to be some impact to 54,000 square feet of slope area – 531 
he stated he is not seeing where the mitigation is. He asked how any kind of erosion or runoff 532 
would be prevented.  533 
 534 
Ms. Brunner responded by saying this site is the appropriate location, and that standard is 535 
concerned with a site impacting more than 20,000 square feet of precautionary slopes. What the 536 
standard is asking the Board to evaluate is whether there is a location on the site that would not 537 
impact steep slopes. The answer for this property, after  looking at the plans, is that the proposed 538 
area would be the least impactful. 539 
 540 
Mr. Noonan added that he would like to review their existing conditions. He stated a large 541 
portion of the property close to where the wetlands are located was not surveyed because of its 542 
size. The applicant knew he was not going to develop that area, even though there is frontage off 543 
Drummer Road. He noted the darker grey areas on the plan, which are the precautionary slopes. 544 
 545 
He noted the three plateaus and stated this is the area they targeted as the best spot to place the  546 
buildings. The buildings were laid out to work as much as they could to work with that land.  547 
 548 
After constructing the site and ensuring that there is no erosion or impact on slopes post 549 
construction, conditions will be reviewed with the Alteration Terrain Permit. There will be 550 
inspections done during construction. Steeper slopes, 3:1 or greater, would have erosion control 551 
matting.  552 
 553 
The Chair asked for public comment next. 554 
 555 
Mr. David Ploppert addressed the Board. He stated he worked on the Timberlane Drive project 556 
for two years and there was an incredible amount of dynamite blasting used to put in all the 557 
cellar holes on the left side of the site. He felt a project of this size with the mountain that has a 558 
ledge will increase veins of water running down that slope. 559 
 560 
He also questioned how this project is going to impact the value of homes already on Timberlane 561 
Drive. 562 
 563 
Mr. Kevin Thatcher of 28 Evans Circle addressed the Board next. He stated he is a civil engineer 564 
for NHDES Alteration of Terrain Bureau. He stated he would like to address the Board in that 565 
capacity. He stated he was able to perform a preliminary review based on the information in the 566 
staff report. Mr. Thatcher stated this project is not compliant with DES Regulations regarding 567 
stormwater quality treatment. He stated he raises these concerns for the benefit of the applicant 568 
and the Board so that they can address the changes that need to be made. Specifically, a 569 
significant portion of this site is a tributary to the detention basin. He added that a detention basin 570 
is not an approved stormwater quality management practice with DES; it is only a conveyance 571 
for quantity control not quality control.  572 

14 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 14 of 20 
 

 573 
Mr. Thatcher added that each of the buildings seem to have a stone drippage associated with 574 
them. These details were not provided in the staff report. From a state perspective, he pointed out 575 
single and duplex-style residences are exempt from stormwater quality treatment, but multi 576 
family, town homes, and apartment buildings are not exempt. The project must ensure that drip 577 
edges meet treatment standards regarding water coming off the roofs. 578 
 579 
Lastly, Mr. Thatcher noted there is one treatment swale proposed, but it isn’t clear if this meets 580 
DES Standards.  581 
 582 
Mr. Mark Vanson of 62 Meetinghouse Road stated he wanted to follow up on Mayor Kahn’s 583 
question regarding overflow parking. He felt one car per bedroom, even though it is the standard, 584 
seems “tight.” A working couple in a one-bedroom could have two cars. A two-bedroom with a 585 
teenage driver could have three cars. He asked that the gravel aprons, which are not technically 586 
parking spaces, be considered a quantifiable measure of the capacity of this area to handle 587 
visitor, resident and service parking for this development. If the gravel area parking cannot 588 
handle this type of parking, there will likely be parking happening on Timberlane Drive. 589 
Timberlane Drive has restricted parking during the winter months, and its capacity to manage 590 
vehicular travel is limited.  591 
 592 
Sarah Vezzani of 464 Elm Street addressed the Board next.  Ms. Vezzani stated she has owned 593 
her home for 17 years and has not had any water issues in her basement. Since the clearing 594 
across the street, she has had more than a foot of water. She stated she contacted the city, and no 595 
one can say if the instances of water in her basement  are related exactly to this project; however, 596 
the situation does seem curious because it occurred directly after the clearing across the way. She 597 
indicated stormwater is a concern for her 598 
and hoped she would not suffer a $60,000 loss to her finished basement, which is not covered by 599 
insurance. She asked that this be noted on the record that this was an issue that occurred after this 600 
clearing.  601 
 602 
With no further comment, the Chair closed the public hearing. 603 
 604 
The Chair asked Mr. Noonan to comment on the concerns that were just raised.  605 
Mr. Noonan address the first comment regarding the ledge. He stated when test pits were done 606 
on the site, there was no ledge encountered. The owner has done additional digging on site and 607 
investigative work. Afterward, the owner found only boulders throughout the site and did not 608 
find any ledge. In addition, after the initial approval, he performed excavations to see if there 609 
was any ledge and none was found. He added that when you travel up to Drummer Hill there is a 610 
substantial ledge. The Chair asked whether they anticipate any use of dynamite. 611 
 612 
Mr. Noonan stated, based on what was found with test pits and what the owner of the property 613 
has investigated further, they don't anticipate blasting. If any blasting was to be undertaken, it 614 
would be through Fire Department review; however, they do not foresee blasting on the site.  615 
 616 
The next comment Mr. Noonan addressed was in reference to the statements Mr. Thatcher had 617 
made regarding the design for Alteration of Terrain. He stated they are asking for that as a 618 

15 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 15 of 20 
 

condition of approval, and they would design it to meet state standards. There could be more 619 
treatment required. He noted the swales being proposed on site and additional space where more 620 
treatment swales could be located. 621 
 622 
As far as clearing, the property went from a wooded lot to being cleared. Once an approval and 623 
an alteration of terrain permit is issued, there would be a design to slow down and reduce runoff 624 
from the site. He added he did not know where this abutter’s house was located in relation to this 625 
site.  626 
 627 
Councilor Remy stated this is the first time he has heard from a civil engineer who happens to 628 
work for the state. When reviewing this process, including a condition of approval, he inquired 629 
whether the Board should consider his testimony. Ms. Fortson stated the Planning Board 630 
obviously is not trained to know what the operation of an Alteration of Terrain Permit is going to 631 
require. If the applicant applied for the permit, and it was going to significantly impact their 632 
proposed design, then staff would need to look at the changes that are proposed. Staff would then 633 
determine if  the changes would require a return to the Planning Board for review. Pending staff 634 
determination, it could be reviewed by the Minor Project Review Committee as a minor site plan 635 
application or even reviewed administratively by staff. 636 
 637 
Mr. Noonan stated the city is copied on that Alteration of Terrain application, and this would be 638 
prior to the applicant coming back for a final approval. Staff would see if there were any major 639 
changes to the site plan prior to the final plans being submitted. 640 
 641 
Mayor Kahn clarified these units would not have basements and would have concrete footings; 642 
in addition, any disruption would be limited to removal of boulders on the site. Mr. Noonan 643 
agreed there would be no basement and removal of boulders would be done to put in footings. 644 
 645 
The Mayor further clarified stormwater runoff would be reviewed by the State. Mr. Noonan 646 
stated this would be reviewed as part of the Alteration of Terrain Permit. He also asked for 647 
clarification that the water flow from the site is not going to be disrupted because of the 648 
detention pond, which will give greater capacity for stormwater runoff than there currently is on 649 
the site. Mr. Noonan stated the design, after the Alteration of Terrain permit process, will be 650 
implemented to treat stormwater runoff and match as close as possible or create a slight 651 
reduction from current runoff conditions. The design would be in the pre-development, or 652 
wooded, condition, so the system ultimately will be sized larger if the applicant showed the 653 
conditions as already cleared. The Mayor clarified, again, that the applicant’s intent with the 654 
design is that it would reduce the amount of runoff from the site currently. Mr. Noonan answered 655 
in the affirmative and stated this would be a requirement of the Alteration of Terrain Permit. 656 
 657 
Mr. Hoefer stated he hears the concerns about parking and felt it is going to be a tight parking 658 
situation; however, the site is also constrained because the maximum amount of parking for the 659 
use of a cottage court overlay has been met. 660 
 661 
The Chair noted the site has been cleared and, at least anecdotally, has affected the flow of water 662 
down the hill. It will be sometime between now and when the storm water drainage system is in 663 
place. The Chair asked, in the meantime, if there was anything that could be done to reduce some 664 

16 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 16 of 20 
 

of the drainage. Mr. Noonan stated it has been three years since the site was cleared and there has 665 
been a substantial amount of vegetation that has already grown over the entire site; therefore, he 666 
felt it was completely stabilized at this point. There are small trees across the entire site. He did 667 
not feel a stormwater management system would warrant much from what is there today. The 668 
Chair asked that the applicant be mindful of this issue as they proceed when developing the site. 669 
 670 
Mayor Kahn referred to the concern raised about quantifying the amount of gravel parking the 671 
site may provide and asked if this is something that can be done. Mr. Noonan stated he would be 672 
hesitant to say how many spaces there are available along the side. He stated the applicant is 673 
showing that they are meeting the maximum of the one per bedroom parking requirement. He 674 
felt indicating they are adding ten more spaces on the side would make the site plan not 675 
compliant.  676 
 677 
Ms. Fortson added this becomes an issue for a few reasons. First, being above the maximum 678 
number of parking spaces would require that they go before the Zoning Board for a variance to 679 
allow for more parking spaces. You will also then be potentially creating parking spaces that 680 
don’t meet the parking lot design standards. 681 
 682 
The Mayor asked whether the parking lots were going to be paved. Mr. Noonan agreed they 683 
would be paved. The Mayor asked whether the applicant has considered permeable surface for 684 
greater capacity on the site. Mr. Noonan stated they have not considered permeable surfaces; it 685 
would be standard asphalt. All the impervious surfaces would be running into treatment swales 686 
and then into a detention pond. He stated the applicant is trying to keep costs down as much as 687 
possible, because the ultimate goal of the project is providing affordable and workforce housing. 688 
 689 
The Mayor asked staff, when the Department of Environmental Services review is conducted, 690 
whether this could be a possible suggestion they might make to achieve certain mitigation. 691 
Ms. Brunner stated she has never seen that as a requirement or a suggestion. She stated the way 692 
she believes it works is that there are certain standards that you have to meet, and then it is up to 693 
the applicant to design a plan that meets those standard, which is what gets reviewed by the state. 694 
  695 

C. Board Discussion and Action 696 
A motion was made by Roberta Mastrogiovanni that the Planning Board approve PB-2024-14 as 697 
shown on the plan set identified as “Multi-Family Residential Development, Tax Map 515, Lot 698 
15, Timberlane Woods” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants at varying scales on 699 
September 20, 2024 and last revised on October 14, 2024 with the following conditions:  700 
 701 
1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 702 
conditions precedent shall be met:  703 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the plan.  704 
b. Submittal of five paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan set stamped by an 705 

engineer and certified wetlands scientist licensed in the State of NH.  706 
c. Submittal of an updated proposed conditions plan with a 30’ “no-cut buffer” labeled 707 

along the boundaries of the proposed development area.  708 

17 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 17 of 20 
 

d. Submittal of five full sized, color paper copies and a digital copy of the final elevations 709 
stamped by a NH-licensed architect showing each building façade with the proposed exterior 710 
building materials/finish colors labeled.  711 

e. Submittal of an updated cut sheet for a wall-pack light fixture that complies with the 712 
lighting standards outlined under Article 21.7 of the LDC.  713 

f. Submittal of an approved Alteration of Terrain Permit application to the Community 714 
Development Department. 715 

g. Submittal of a security deposit to cover the cost of sediment and erosion control, 716 
landscaping, and as-built plans in a form and amount acceptable to the City Engineer.  717 
 718 
2. After final approval, the following conditions subsequently shall be met: 719 

 a. Prior to the commencement of site work, a preconstruction meeting will be scheduled 720 
with Community Development Staff.  721 

b. Prior to the commencement of site work, the erosion and sediment control measures 722 
shall be inspected by the Community Development Department to ensure compliance with this 723 
application and all City of Keene regulations.  724 

c. Prior to the commencement of site work, the 30’ wetlands buffer shall be flagged and 725 
inspected by the Community Development Department to ensure compliance with the Surface 726 
Water Protection Ordinance and all City of Keene regulations.  727 

d. Following the installation of landscaping, the applicant shall contact Community 728 
Development Staff to schedule an initial landscaping inspection.  729 

e. After 1 full growing season (a minimum of 1 year), the applicant shall contact 730 
Community Development staff to conduct a final landscaping inspection. 731 
The motion was seconded by Kenneth Kost. 732 
 733 
Mr. Kost stated this project provides much needed affordable housing, which is important. He 734 
stated the concern about storm water runoff and downhill erosion has been raised, and stated he 735 
wanted to make sure everything is in place between state reviews and the city engineers. 736 
He added he supports the city in its desire for wanting housing, but he wanted to make sure we 737 
are not damaging or causing issues in the excitement of getting housing. 738 
 739 
Ms. Brunner stated she just spoke to the applicant, and the plans don’t have sufficient area to 740 
place a 30-foot buffer around the entire development area. The applicant is asking that this 741 
condition be modified to take out “30 feet” and to say a “no cut buffer” around the development 742 
area.  To get a 30-foot buffer around the entire development they would have to change their 743 
entire design. 744 
 745 
The Chair asked where the 30-foot requirement came from. Ms. Brunner stated it might have 746 
come from the CRD approval. It is carryover from that application. What staff intend with that 747 
condition is to ensure the vegetation there today would remain. 748 
 749 
She felt if it is labeled as a no cut buffer, the buffer would meet the intent without having to 750 
specify the 30-feet. 751 
 752 
Mr. Noonan agreed and added when they had the CRD Subdivision, he noted how the buildings 753 
were located, and the garages were almost directly on to the driveway. 754 

18 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 18 of 20 
 

Hence, there was 30-feet right at the entry of the driveway. With the new plan that includes the 755 
rotation of the buildings, the drainage and utilities, they are not able to get 30 feet through this 756 
entire area. Mr. Noonan added there is no 30-foot buffer requirement and it is not a regulation.  757 
 758 
Mayor Kahn felt this is a development the city needs. Regarding storm water runoff, there is a 759 
net improvement, which needs to be and will be verified  independently. The storm water runoff 760 
will be verified by the Department of Environmental Services, and the city is dependent on their 761 
review.  762 
 763 
The Chair asked whether any Board wanted to address regional impact. Mr. Mehu stated this 764 
plan doesn’t meet regional impact. 765 
 766 
Mr. Hoefer felt this was a challenging lot and is glad there is a developer who is willing to take 767 
on this development. He felt there are protections in place to make sure the stormwater will 768 
meet state standards. He stated he had no concerns proceeding with a vote tonight. 769 
 770 
Robert Mastrogiovanni made the motion to amend 1c. to read as follows: 771 

1. Submittal of an updated proposed conditions plan with a “no-cut buffer” labeled along 772 
the boundaries of the proposed development area.  773 

2. The amended motion was seconded by Mayor Kahn 774 
 775 
The original motion carried on a unanimous roll call vote. 776 
The amended motion carried on a unanimous roll call vote. 777 
 778 
 779 
V. Advice & Comment  780 

a. Cottage Court Development & Surface Water CUP – 0 Court St, TMP #228-016-781 
000 – Fieldstone Land Consultants, on behalf of owner Guitard Homes LLC, is seeking input 782 
from the Planning Board regarding a potential Cottage Court Development & Surface Water 783 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP). The parcel is located in the Low Density District. 784 

 785 
Mr. John Noonan addressed the committee again. Mr. Noonan stated this proposal is for 36 786 
individual homes. The property is located on 0 Court Street. He noted a cul-de-sac that comes in 787 
and extends to the back of the property. There is a wetland that bisects a portion of the property, 788 
and the applicant is looking to build in three phases. 789 
 790 
The phases would include the following:  791 

1. The first phase would be coming off Court Street using the turnaround. 792 
2. The second phase would be crossing the wetland and using that proportion of property. 793 
3. The third phase would be crossing the wetland to the rear of the property. 794 

 795 
Mr. Noonan stated the applicant has met with city staff and reviewed the three styles of homes 796 
that they are looking to build. Specifically, cottage style must meet the 900 square feet gross 797 
floor area or less and maximum of 1,250 square feet total gross. He presented a rending showing 798 
the three home styles they were looking at.  799 
 800 

19 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 19 of 20 
 

Mr. Noonan stated there is a right of way for this subject lot that crosses through the Keene 801 
Center land, which they are not proposing to use. Ultimately, they would be using the Court 802 
Street entrance of the proposed road. Water and sewer services would come off Court Street and 803 
they would also be using the water extension at the right of way. The Fire Department is satisfied 804 
with the access to hydrants located in this area for their use.   805 
 806 
Mr. Noonan stated they would be impacting over 100,000 square feet of wetlands overall, and 807 
this application would also include applying for an Alteration of Terrain Permit and a Wetland 808 
Permit for the three crossings. There would be two permanent crossings and one temporary 809 
crossing, if water does not extend from a hydrant located at the end of the property.  810 
 811 
The homes would be two-bedroom homes. At this point the applicant is in the preliminary stages 812 
of meeting the College Court Ordinance for density. Some of the homes would have the option 813 
of a detached garage or shed as part of the property. He stated they would be coming back soon 814 
before the Board with a full site plan application. 815 
 816 
Mayor Kahn asked how many units would be in each phase. Mr. Noonan stated phase one would 817 
have 13 units, phase two would have 12 units, and phase three would have six units. The Mayor 818 
clarified there will be a traffic study as part of this application. Mr. Noonan answered in the 819 
affirmative. The Mayor asked if all the units would be in two levels. Mr. Noonan stated two of 820 
the three styles will be two stories, and one will be a single story. The Mayor asked whether 821 
these homes would be in private ownership. Mr. Noonan stated it would be a homeowners’ 822 
association with the terms that the units cannot be rented. The Mayor felt this is something the 823 
community would benefit from and asked for a price range for these home.  824 
 825 
Applicant Mike Guitard addressed the Board and called attention to the different styles of homes 826 
being considered. He stated the houses could be less than $300,000 (market driven concept). The 827 
Mayor asked whether soil tests have been completed. Mr. Guitard answered in the negative but 828 
stated that soil tests will be completed. The applicant added development would all be slab on 829 
grade with no basement. 830 
 831 
Mr. Kost asked what kind of parking is being offered. Mr. Guitard stated it would be one per 832 
bedroom. Mr. Noonan stated they are on the agenda with the Conservation Commission at their 833 
next meeting to address the wetland crossing.  834 
 835 
Ms. Vezzani asked the applicant to make sure they meet the maximum square footage average. 836 
She also asked the applicant to keep in mind an attractive screening between the homes. 837 
She also asked the applicant to consider traffic, which is going to increase in the area, and have a 838 
study completed by a NH Licensed engineer.  839 
 840 
The Mayor asked if the attached garages are considered under the Cottage Court Ordinance. Ms.  841 
Brunner stated garages do not count towards the gross floor area.  842 
 843 
Mr. Mehu stated he likes this concept. He noted the footprint has been increased and felt a 844 
variety in the neighborhood won’t be a bad thing. 845 
 846 

20 of 92



PB Meeting Minutes  DRAFT 
October 28, 2024 

Page 20 of 20 
 

Ms. Mastrogiovanni asked whether there was a cap on the value of homes under the Cottage 847 
Court Ordinance. Ms. Brunner stated there is no cap, but it is addressed through the size of the 848 
home. 849 
 850 
VI. Master Plan Update (https://keenemasterplan.com/)  851 
Ms. Brunner stated, since the last update, the future summit was held on October 5th. There was a 852 
lot of feedback received from participants. The vision report was updated based on the feedback. 853 
“Heathy Community” was changed to “Vibrant Neighborhood.” There was also a call for 854 
“Educated Citizenry” based on feedback received at the summit. 855 
 856 
The steering committee is currently in the process of finalizing the task forces for the six pillars 857 
related to the Master Plan Update. The task forces will start meeting in January. Their work will 858 
be shared with the Steering Committee and the Planning Board to finalize the Master Plan. For 859 
those who don’t have online access, there will be public open houses conducted at the library for 860 
the discussion boards on December 11, 12 and 13. 861 
 862 
 863 
VII. Training on Site Development Standards – Snow Storage & Removal, Landscaping, & 864 
Screening  865 
Item was not discussed 866 
 867 
VIII. Staff Updates  868 
Ms. Brunner stated there is a training opportunity coming up. The training is the Municipal Land 869 
Use Law Conference on Saturday November 16, from 9:00 am to 3:15 pm, held at Southern NH 870 
University. Keene is an NHMA member, and the registration fee is $115. The Board has a small 871 
budget which could fund two attendees. 872 
 873 
IX. New Business  874 
None 875 
 876 
X. Upcoming Dates of Interest  877 
 Joint Committee of the Planning Board and PLD – Tuesday, November 12th, 6:30 PM  878 
 Planning Board Steering Committee – November 12th, 11:00 AM  879 
 Planning Board Site Visit – November 20th, 8:00 AM – To Be Confirmed  880 
 Planning Board Meeting – November 25th, 6:30 PM 881 
 882 
The Chair reminded the Board to let staff know if they cannot attend a site visit, so the date can 883 
be changed to meet quorum. 884 
 885 
With no further business, Chair Farrington adjourned the meeting at 9:25 PM. 886 
 887 
Respectfully submitted by, 888 
Krishni Pahl, Minute Taker 889 
 890 
Reviewed and edited by, 891 
Emily Duseau, Planning Technician 892 

21 of 92



 

 

3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 

 

(603) 352-5440 
KeeneNH.gov 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:   Planning Board    
 
FROM:   Community Development Staff 
 
DATE:   November 18, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: Agenda Item III - Final Vote on Conditional Approvals  

 

Recommendation:  

To grant final approval for any projects that have met all their “conditions precedent to final 
approval.” 

Background: 

This is a standing agenda item in response to the “George Stergiou v. City of Dover” opinion issued 
by the NH Supreme Court on July 21, 2022. As a matter of practice, the Planning Board issues a 
final vote on all conditionally approved projects after the “conditions precedent to final approval” 
have been met. This final vote will be the final approval and will start the 30-day appeal clock. 

As of the date of this packet, there are no applications ready for final approval. 

If any projects meet their conditions precedent between date of this packet and the meeting, they 
will be identified and discussed during this agenda item.   

All Planning Board actions, including final approvals, are posted on the City of Keene website the 
day after the meeting at KeeneNH.gov/planning-board.  

 

  

22 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2024-15 – SITE PLAN REVIEW – MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY HEADQUARTERS – 0 
ASHUELOT ST 

 
Request: 

Applicant the Monadnock Conservancy, on behalf of owner JRR Properties LLC, proposes to 
construct a ~6,215-sf office building, create parking, install water and sewer utilities, and make 
stormwater drainage improvements on the site at 0 Ashuelot St (TMP #567-001-000). The parcel 
is ~3.53-ac in size and is located in the Commerce District. 
 
Background: 

The purpose of this 
application is to construct a 
6,215 SF, single story, office 
building with associated site 
improvements for the new 
headquarters of the 
Monadnock Conservancy. The 
proposed headquarters will 
provide office space for 25 
occupants and include a 
community room. The 
majority of the subject parcel 
is located within the 100-year 
floodplain; therefore the 
project will require 
compensatory flood storage 
to offset the construction and 
site development. 
 
The subject parcel is the 
former location of an overflow 
parking lot for the Colony Mill 
marketplace. The parking lot 
has since been removed and 
replaced with turf grass. The 
parcel is located on the west 
side of Ashuelot St, adjacent to the Ashuelot River. The parcel is approximately 500 ft from the 
intersection with West St. with the Mascoma Bank to the south and Harper Acres, a Keene 
Housing development, to the north.  
 
The current owner of the property intends to subdivide the parcel at a future date and donate 
approximately 1 acre in the northeastern corner of the parcel to the Monadnock Conservancy for 
this proposed development. The remainder of the parcel is intended to be donated to the City of 
Keene to provide additional green space connection along the Ashuelot River. A portion of the 
required compensatory flood storage will be located on part of the parcel to be donated to the 
City. An agreement between the Monadnock Conservancy and the City for the flood storage 
structures is being negotiated. 
 

Fig 1: 0 Ashuelot St. outlined in yellow 

23 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

The project will be required to obtain an Alteration of Terrian permit from the NH Department of 
Environmental Services as well as a Floodplain Development Permit. In addition to flood storage 
improvements, an existing City-owned storm drainpipe that runs through the parcel will be 
replaced with a riparian drainage swale that will support both stormwater and floodwater volume 
management. 
   
Determination of Regional Impact: 

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed site 
plan does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The 
Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have 
the potential for regional impact. 
 

Completeness: 

The applicant has requested an exemption from submitting a traffic study, historic evaluation, 
screening analysis, architectural & visual appearance analysis, and other technical reports and 
analyses. After reviewing each exemption request, staff have determined that granting the 
request would have no bearing on the merits of the application and recommend that the Board 
accept the application as complete. 
 
Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application. 
 
21.2 Drainage: The proposed stormwater management system includes detention basins, 

grass swales, infiltration trenches and an emergency spillway. The proposed spillway will 
direct flow as needed across the subject parcel to reduce volume and velocity. The 
applicant states in their narrative that that runoff will be managed onsite with no adverse 
impacts to downstream abutters. It appears that this standard has been met.   

21.3 Sediment & Erosion Control: The applicant states in their narrative that the site is relatively 
flat which reduces concerns related to erosion concerns. The application proposes the 
installation of erosion control measures such as silt fence as needed. A stabilized 
construction entrance is also proposed. All control measures will be maintained and 
repaired based on best management practices. It appears that this standard has been 
met. 

21.4 Snow Storage & Removal: The applicant states in their narrative that snow storage is 
proposed to the west of the parking area. If snowfall exceeds snow storage on site, any 
additional snow will be removed from the site. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.5 Landscaping: The application is required to install one tree per ten parking spaces in the 
parking area. The applicant proposes to install five Red Maple and one Multi-Leader Birch 
to meet this requirement. A rhododendron is proposed to be installed next to the proposed 
power transformer to provide screening. The proposed parking area will need to be 
screened from the residential parcel to the north. The screening requirement includes the 
installation of ornamental and shades trees, evergreens, and ornamental shrubs. The 
applicant has proposed a selection ornamental shrubs and grasses such as Inkberry Holly 
and Rhododendrons as well as Switch Grass to meet this requirement. A condition of 

24 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

approval related to the financial security for the proposed landscaping is included in the 
suggested motion language. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.6 Screening: The applicant states in their narrative that the dumpster area will be enclosed 
by a 7’6” tall solid wood enclosure with an attached shed. The heat pumps will be screened 
with matching wood fencing. A rhododendron is proposed to be installed to screen the 
transformer from the public right of way. The applicant is proposing to screen the parking 
area from the residentially-zoned parcel to the north as required by section 9.4.4 of the 
Land Development Code utilizing a landscape buffer of trees, ornamental shrubs, and 
native grasses. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.7 Lighting: The application proposes to install seven pole-mounted parking area light 
fixtures and 11 canopy lights. The parking area fixtures will be installed on 12’ tall pole 
mounts. An additional six wall mounted lights and 15 bollard lights are also proposed. All 
light fixtures are full cut-off with a CRI of greater than 70 and a color temperature of 
3,000K. The applicant has also submitted a reduced lighting plan for security purposes 
with the required 50% reduction in lighting level shown. It appears that this standard has 
been met. 

21.8 Sewer & Water: The applicant states in their narrative that the development will connect 
to City water and sewer with a new set of services. The water service will be a 1 ½” 
diameter line. The sewer service will be a 4” diameter. A separate fire suppression water 
service is not proposed as fire suppression is not required. It appears that this standard 
has been met. 

21.9 Traffic & Access Management: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 
use will not generate a significant increase in the total vehicle trips per day. The previous 
use of the property was a 3.5-acre overflow parking area for a shopping center. The ITE 
trip generation manual estimates an additional 24 new vehicle trips during weekday peak. 

 The site design includes the installation of 25 parking spaces, including two accessible 
parking spaces and a 24’ wide drive aisle. Granite curbing is proposed as wheel stops 
along all parking spaces. The street access for the parking area will be located at the 
northeast corner of the property, to the north of the proposed office building. A turn around 
is located at the far end of the parking area and a truck turning plan has been submitted 
to ensure that emergency vehicles have sufficient area to navigate the site.  

 Pedestrian access is located off Ashuelot Street with concrete walkways connecting the 
site to the City’s sidewalk system. A bike rack is proposed to be installed by the front 
entrance of the office building. An existing concrete apron located at the southeast corner 
of the property left over from the parking lot is proposed to remain. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

21.10 Filling & Excavation: In order to achieve the required flood compensation, significant 
excavation and earthwork will be required. The project will require an Alteration of Terrian 
permit from DES for disturbance over 100,000 SF. The property is located near West Street 
which will provide a clear path for trucks to travel to and from the site. It appears that this 
standard has been met. 

25 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

21.11 Surface Waters & Wetlands: The applicant states in their narrative that there will not be 
any work on the site that will impact the Ashuelot River. The proposed flood storage swale 
will require the removal of an existing 15” culvert that is part of the City’s stormwater 
management system in the area. The applicant is proposing to connect the riparian swale 
used for flood storage to the existing City culvert system and upgrade the City system as 
needed. No impacts to surface waters or natural wetlands are proposed as part of this 
application. It appears that this standard has been met.  

21.12 Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The applicant states in their narrative that there are no 
known hazardous or toxic materials on site and the proposed use does not include 
hazardous or toxic materials. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.13  Noise: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed use will generate noise 
that is typical for an office building. It appears that this standard has been met. 

21.14 Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant states in their narrative that the proposed 
office building will “mimic the Monadnock Conservancy’s values.” (see Fig 2.) The 
submitted elevations propose a single-story office building with a standing seam metal 
roof with solar panels. The building façade will be sections of slate siding with accent 
sections of wood siding.  

 

 

 
 The east elevation (see Fig. 3) will face Ashuelot Street and depicts a mix of the three 

building façade materials, wood, slate, and metal. A wooden fence will also be located on 
this elevation to screen the proposed heat pumps from view of the public right-of-way. 

 

Fig 2: Office building rendering 

26 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

 

  

The Board should consider the following standards as part of their review of the City’s 
Architectural and Visual Appearance standards to determine if this standard has been 
met. 

 Section 21.14.2 Visual Interest: 

A. “Front facades and exterior walls shall be articulated to express an architectural identity 
to avoid a uniform appearance, and architectural details shall give the impression of 
being integral to and compatible with the overall design.” 
 

B. “Structures shall have architectural features (e.g. dominant gable ends, cornices, granite 
sills, arched openings, large windows framed with architecturally consistent trim, etc.) 
and patterns that provide visual interest at the pedestrian scale, reduce massive 
aesthetic effects, and harmonize with the City’s distinctive architectural identity, unique 
character, and prevailing scale.” 

 

Recommended Motion:  

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  

“Approve PB-2024-15 as shown on the plan set identified as “Monadnock Conservancy 
Headquarters” prepared by SVE Associates at varying scales on October 18, 2024 and last 
revised on November 12, 2024 with the following conditions: 
 
1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the 

following conditions precedent shall be met: 
a. Owner’s signature appears on the plan. 
b. Submittal of five paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan with the AOT 

permit number included as a note on the site plan. 
c. Submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment and erosion control, 

landscaping, and as-built plans in a form and amount acceptable to the City 
Engineer. 

Fig 3: 0 East elevation facing Ashuelot St. 

27 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

 
2. Subsequent to final approval, the following conditions shall be met: 

a. Prior to the commencement of site work, a preconstruction meeting will be 
scheduled with Community Development Staff. 

b. Prior to the commencement of site work, the erosion and sediment control 
measures shall be inspected by the Community Development Department to 
ensure compliance with this application and all City of Keene regulations. 

c. Following the installation of landscaping, the applicant shall contact Community 
Development Staff to schedule an initial landscaping inspection. 

d. After 1 full growing season (a minimum of 1 year), the applicant shall contact 
Community Development Staff to conduct a final landscaping inspection.” 

 

28 of 92



29 of 92



SVE Associates 
Engineer ing        *        Surveying        *        Landscape  Arch ic tu re        *         P l ann ing  

439 West River Road, Brattleboro, VT 05302    Phone:  (802) 257−0561       Fax (802) 257−0721  E−mail svek@sveassoc.com 
 

P:\Project\NH PROJECTS\K2781 Sheldon Pennoyer Architects\Docs\Permit Apps\PB\K2781 PB APPLICATION NARRATIVE 10-
14-24.docx 

PROJECT NARRATIVE 
 

Monadnock Conservancy Headquarters 
0 Ashuelot Street 

Owner: JRR Properties, LLC 
Applicant: Monadnock Conservancy 

 
October 18, 2024 

 
SVE Associates, on behalf of the applicant the Monadnock Conservancy, is submitting 
this site plan application to construct an office building.  The project consists of 
construction of a 6,215-sf office building, parking, water and sewer connection & 
associated stormwater drainage treatment and detention.  The proposed headquarters is 
sized for up to 25 occupants, there is an equal amount of parking spaces. Almost the 
entire parcel is within the 100-year floodplain, therefore the project requires flood storage 
compensation. 
 
SVE Associates has met with the former City Engineer, now Director of Public Works on 
the joint project of replacing the existing City Storm Drainpipe that runs through the 
parcel and replacing a portion of it with a riparian drainage swale that will accomplish 
both the required flood storage compensation volume and maintain the City’s stormwater 
drainage. Flood storage compensation volumes are accounted for above the seasonal 
high-water table and do not include the volume of excavation required to maintain the 
City’s stormwater drainage system. 
 
Sediment and erosion control for the development will be a row of silt fence or straw 
wattles. Contractor will maintain and remove accumulated sediment and debris as 
necessary. 
 
The proposed plan complies with all City Development Standards: 
 

1.) Drainage & Stormwater Management:   
There will be no net increase in stormwater runoff. See attached drainage narrative. 
Stormwater will be treated and detained with the infiltration basin constructed above 
the 10-year flood elevation, as required by NHDES Alteration of Terrain. 
 
2.) Sedimentation/ Erosion Control: 
The site is relatively flat, minimizing the potential for erosion problems.  Regardless, 
the Contractor is to install, monitor, and repair erosion control measures on a regular 
basis.  These instructions are included in the notes on Sheet N-1 and details on Sheet 
C-4.   
 
3.) Snow Storage and Removal: 
Snow storage is proposed to the west of the proposed parking. If snowfall exceeds 
available snow storage, snow will be trucked offsite. 
 

30 of 92



SVE Associates 
Engineer ing        *        Surveying        *        Landscape  Arch ic tu re        *         P l ann ing  

439 West River Road, Brattleboro, VT 05302    Phone:  (802) 257−0561       Fax (802) 257−0721  E−mail svek@sveassoc.com 
 

P:\Project\NH PROJECTS\K2781 Sheldon Pennoyer Architects\Docs\Permit Apps\PB\K2781 PB APPLICATION NARRATIVE 10-
14-24.docx 

4.) Landscaping: 
One birch cluster and three red maples are to be planted to screen the parking and 
transformer. 
 
5.) Screening: 
The new dumpster location will be screened from view by the dumpster enclosure. 
The transformer will be screened by a rhododendron and a birch cluster. The heat 
pumps will be screened by a fence. Fence will have steel post and thermally modified 
wood siding. 
 
6.) Lighting: 
There are 7 pole mounted lights, 11 canopy lights proposed, 6 wall mounted lights 
and 15 bollard lights proposed. All lights are full cut-off.  
 
7.) Sewer & Water: 
The site will connect to the municipal water and sewer. For an office with 25 
occupants, design flow is 5 gpd/100 sf is 311 gpd. Sewer service is a 4” diameter 
SDR35 and domestic water is a 1 ½” diameter CTS service. No fire suppression 
system required for single story, business use, under 12,000 sf with occupant load of 
less than 300. 
 
8.) Traffic & Access Management: 
No significant changes to amount or timing of trips to the site. From ITE trip 
generation manual estimates, there will be 24 additional vehicle trip ends on a 
weekday. For reference, this parcel used to be a 3.5-acre overflow parking lot for the 
nearby shopping center. Both vehicular and pedestrian access will be off of Ashuelot 
Street. A bike rack is located at the front entrance and is accessed along the proposed 
sidewalk. 
 
9.) Filling and Excavation: 
There will be compensatory flood plain excavation for the proposed filling within the 
100-year flood plain. 
 
10.) Surface Waters & Wetlands: 
The property abuts the Ashuelot River to the west and the City’s drainage swale to 
the north. Changes are proposed to the drainage swale that will affect a wetland (re-
grading to remove the existing culvert). No changes are proposed that would affect 
the Ashuelot River. 
 
11.) Hazardous & Toxic Materials: 
Not applicable. 
 
12.) Noise: 
The proposed use will generate noise typical of an office space. 
 
 

31 of 92



SVE Associates 
Engineer ing        *        Surveying        *        Landscape  Arch ic tu re        *         P l ann ing  

439 West River Road, Brattleboro, VT 05302    Phone:  (802) 257−0561       Fax (802) 257−0721  E−mail svek@sveassoc.com 
 

P:\Project\NH PROJECTS\K2781 Sheldon Pennoyer Architects\Docs\Permit Apps\PB\K2781 PB APPLICATION NARRATIVE 10-
14-24.docx 

13.) Architecture and Visual Appearance: 
New building’s style and visual appearance will mimic the Monadnock 
Conservancy’s values. See elevations for more detail. 

32 of 92



D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

5a
m

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

5a
m













MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY HEADQUARTERS
0 ASHUELOT STREET, KEENE, NEW  HAMPSHIRE

PREPARED BY

PROPERTY OWNER:

JRR PROPERTIES, LLC



SVE PROJECT #: K2781



October 18, 2024









Locus Map
NTS

AS
HU

EL
O

T 
RI

VE
R

ASH
U

ELO
T ST

C
O

LO
R

AD
O

 ST
SC

H
O

O
L ST

COURT ST

GILBO AVE

ISLAN
D

 ST

WINCHESTER ST

Keene
New Hampshire

















APPLICANT:

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY

revised thru November 12, 2024 33 of 92



100 YEAR FLOOD
ELEVATION LINE

SEE NOTE No.5

ZO
N

E X

ZO
N

E AE

ZO
NE AE

ZO
NE X

RIM: 472.57
INV N: 468.2
INV S: 468.1

10 YEAR FLOOD LINE
ELEV=473.7

SEE NOTE No.5

RIM: 472.20
INV N: 467.6
INV S:

BENCHMARK
900 Painted Steamer Bonnet Nut
ELEV=477.45'

BENCHMARK
901 Painted Steamer Bonnet Nut
ELEV=478.16'

RIM: 474.59
INV W:471.1

RIM: 474.48
INV N: 468.0
INV E: 470.6
INV S: 468.0
INV NW: 470.8

RIM: 474.06
INV SE: 470.7

RIM: 475.67
INV W:472.0

RIM: 475.68
INV N: 469.0
INV E:471.4
INV S:468.9

RIM: 475.14
INV: 466.2

INV N: 467.0
INV W: 467.8
INV S: 467.0

15" SDR 35

15" HDPE

15" CMP

12" CMP12"CMP

6" CI

2 PE L.P.

471

476

WF A1

WF A2

WF A6 - A1

WF B9

WF B10

475

475

471

Asbuilt Plan
LAND OF

JRR Properties LLC
located at

Tax Map Parcel No. 567-001
0 Ashuelot Street, Keene, Cheshire County, New Hampshire

Book 2805, Page 630

Scale 1"= 20'
Surveyed 05/2021          Plan prepared  05/18/2021

Project No. H20-067          Cad File No. H20-067B.dwg

Huntley Survey & Design, PLLC

NH & VT Land Surveying, Wetlands & NH Septic System Design
659 West Road, Temple, NH 03084          (603) 924-1669          www.huntleysurvey.com

.

Notes
1. THE BEARINGS SHOWN ON THIS PLAN ARE BASED ON A MAGNETIC OBSERVATION PER PLAN REFERENCE NO.1

AND SERVE ONLY TO DEFINE ANGULAR RELATIONSHIPS.

2. THE BOUNDARY LINES SHOWN ON THIS PLAN WERE CALCULATED FROM CONTROL POINTS SHOWN ON PLAN
REFERENCE NO.1. THE BOUNDARY WAS SLIGHTLY ADJUSTED TO MATCH PIPES FOUND. A BOUNDARY SURVEY
WAS NOT PERFORMED

3. TOPOGRAPHY SHOWN ON THIS PLAN IS FROM AN ACTUAL FIELD SURVEY BY HUNTLEY SURVEY & DESIGN,
PLLC PERFORMED DURING THE MONTH OF MAY, 2021, SUPPLEMENTED BY POINT CLOUD DATA OBTAINED
FROM NH GRANIT FOR AREAS OUTSIDE THE IMMEDIATE SURVEY LIMITS. THE VERTICAL DATUM IS NAVD 88
OBTAINED BY CONVERTING THE NGVD 1929 BENCHMARKS INDICATED ON PLAN REFERENCE No.1. CONTOUR
INTERVAL IS ONE (1) FOOT.

4. THE PARCEL SHOWN IS PARTIALLY WITHIN IN ZONE AE, A FEMA SPECIAL FLOOD HAZARD AREA WITH AN
ANNUAL 1% CHANCE OF FLOODING, PER FEMA FIS 33005CV001A, SHEET 20P, CROSS SECTIONS BR & BS, ALSO
AS SHOWN ON FEMA FLOOD PANEL 33005C0266E, EFFECTIVELY DATED  MAY 23, 2006. THE FLOOD HAZARD
(100 YEAR FLOOD)  ELEVATION IS 474.8' NADVD88.  THE 10 YEAR FLOOD LINE HAS BEEN INTERPOLATED FROM
THE SAME FIS CROSS SECTIONS TO BE 473.7.

5. WATER ELEVATION AT SHORE OF ASHUELOT RIVER IN THE SURVEYED AREA ON JUNE 18, 2024 WAS
APPROXIMATELY 471.4'

6. UNDERGROUND UTILITIES, STRUCTURES AND FACILITIES HAVE BEEN PLOTTED FROM DATA OBTAINED FROM
FIELD SURVEY OF SURFACE LOCATIONS & INFORMATION SHOWN ON PLAN REFERENCE No.1 THEIR
EXISTENCE MUST BE CONSIDERED APPROXIMATE. THERE MAY BE OTHER UNDERGROUND UTILITIES THE
EXISTENCE OF WHICH ARE NOT KNOWN. THE SIZE AND LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES AND STRUCTURES MUST
BE VERIFIED PRIOR TO ANY AND ALL CONSTRUCTION. CALL DIG-SAFE PRIOR TO ANY CONSTRUCTION.

A. WASTEWATER SEWER LINES AND STORM SEWER LINES ARE SHOWN FROM LOCATION OF SURFACE
STRUCTURES AND MEASURED INVERTS.

B. WATER LINES ARE SHOWN FROM LIMITED DATA OBTAINED FROM CITY GIS AND A SINGLE SURFACE
STRUCTURE.

C. GAS LINES ARE SHOWN FROM TIES AND GIS DATA OBTAINED FROM LIBERTY GAS.

D. SUBSURFACE ELECTRIC LINE LOCATIONS WERE NOT INVESTIGATED OR MARKED OUT BY THE PROPER
AUTHORITIES, AND IF THEY EXIST, ARE NOT SHOWN.

Plan References

REFERENCES INCLUDE ALL INFORMATION REFERRED TO ON ANY OF THE FOLLOWING PLANS

1. ALTA/ACSM LAND TITLE SURVEY OF MAYO TWO, LLC, ASHUELOT STREET PROPERTY, DATED JUNE 2004; BY
ROGER T. MONSELL, CLOUGH HARBOUR & ASSOCIATES LLP (Provided by Client)

Surveyor's Certification
PURSUANT TO RSA 676: 18 III AND RSA 672: 14, I CERTIFY THAT THIS SURVEY AND PLAT WERE PRODUCED BY ME
OR THOSE UNDER MY DIRECT SUPERVISION FROM A TOTAL STATION AND DATA COLLECTOR TRAVERSE THAT
MEETS OR EXCEEDS NH LAN 500 AND THE ALLOWABLE RELATIVE POSITIONAL ACCURACY FOR URBAN AREAS AS
REQUIRED BY THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE IN TABLE 500.1, "ACCURACY MEASUREMENTS, LOCAL ACCURACY OF
CONTROL SUPPORTING THE SURVEY," AND IS BASED ON INFORMATION RECORDED AT THE CHESHIRE COUNTY
REGISTRY OF DEEDS AS REFERENCED HEREON, INFORMATION PROVIDED BY THE CLIENT AND PHYSICAL
EVIDENCE FOUND.

THIS IS A TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY AND IS SUBSTANTIALLY CORRECT TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF.
ALL DIMENSIONS ARE SUBJECT TO THE ERROR OF CLOSURE PREVIOUSLY STATED.

HD

Locus Map
NTS

AS
HU

EL
O

T 
RI

VE
R

ASH
U

ELO
T ST

C
O

LO
R

AD
O

 ST
SC

H
O

O
L ST

COURT ST
GILBO AVE

ISLAN
D

 ST

WINCHESTER ST

Keene
New Hampshire

Symbol Legend

STORM SEWER LINE
DRAIN MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN

WATER LINE
CURB STOP
WATER VALVE
HYDRANT

SANITARY SEWER LINE
SEWER CLEANOUT
SEWER MANHOLE

LIGHT POLE

POST/BOLLARD
SIGN

CHAIN LINK FENCE
TREE LINE

IRON PIN/PIPE

EDGE OF PAVEMENT
EDGE OF GRAVEL

SURVEY STATION

DEED VOLUME & PAGE
TAX MAP PARCEL NUMBER

KEENE ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT

[1-2-3]
CHESHIRE COUNTY REGISTRY OF DEEDS

BYREVISIONDATENO.

RJHADD 10 YEAR FLOOD LINE1 3/26/2024

RJHADD TOPO ON STREET AND AT RIVER2 6/20/2024

RJHADD TOPO & WETLANDS N OF SITE3 8/29/2024

34 of 92



DATE:

PROJ. #:

NOTES &
LEGEND

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

5a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN:  LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

 CHECKED: LPS N-1

W

SD

S

U.N.O.

N.I.C.

T.B.R.

O.A.E.

S.C.E.

I.C.C.

V.C.C.

V.G.C.

T.D.
L.S.M.

LP
S

LP
S

01
 - 

N
O

V 
- 2

4
SI

TE
 D

AT
A 

TA
BL

E
1

35 of 92



RIM: 475.14INV: 466.2

RIM
6" IN
15" IN
INV O

15" SDR 35

6" CI

2 PE L.P.

47
7

476

1

2

3

4

5

6

7 8

9

DOM
DOM

DOM
DOM

U
E

U
E

UE

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

47
7

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SF

SF SF

S
S

U
E

UE

UE
UE

UEU
E

468

468

46
8

477

474 475

477

475

476

478477

47
7

SF
SF

SF

SF

47
5

47
5

47
5

47
3

47
3

47
547

4
47

5

WF A1

WF A2 WF A6 - A1

WF B9

WF B10

477

47
6

47
0 47

0

46
846

8

47
3

47
3

DATE:

PROJ. #:

SITE PLAN

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 10' 20' 40'

20'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

5a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

C-1

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

 CHECKED: LPS

48"
72"

72"

1

NONE OBSERVED

PIT DEPTH
TEST PITS

DEPTH TO LEDGE
DEPTH TO OBSERVED WATER
ESTIMATED SEASONAL HIGH WATER 48"

72"

72"

2

NONE OBSERVED

34"
115"

72"

3

NONE OBSERVED

48"
115"

72"

4

NONE OBSERVED

36"
60"

50"

5

NONE OBSERVED

36"
60"

60"

6

NONE OBSERVED

40"
84"

84"

7

NONE OBSERVED

48"
96"

96"

8

NONE OBSERVED

48"
86"

72"

9

NONE OBSERVED 36 of 92



465

470

480

465

470

480
0+00

0+25 0+50
0+59

0+00 0+59

PROPOSED BUILDING EXISTING GRADE

PROPOSED GRADE

CONNECT TO
EXISTING SEWER

WITH WYE

EX. 6" CI WATER LINE

INV. 471.19'

EX. GAS LINE

PROPERTY LINE

EX. SIDEWALK

6"Ø @2% MIN

CLEANOUT

EX. 15" CMP STORMDRAIN 1.8'

6"Ø @15% MAX
1.5'

2" RIGID INSULATION

100 YEAR FLOOD
ELEVATION LINE

47
7

476

1

2

3

6

7 8

9

DOM
DOM

DOM
DOM

DOM
DOM

DOM
DOM

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

UE

UE

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

47
7

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

SF

S
S

S
S

U
E

U
E

UE

UE

UE

UE
UE

UE
UE

UE
UE

UE

U
E

10 YEAR FLOOD LINE
ELEV=473.7

477

474 475

477

475

476

478
477

47
7

47
5

47
5

47
3

47
3

47
5

47
4

47
5

477

47
6

DATE:

PROJ. #:

GRADING &
DRAINAGE PLAN

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 5' 10' 20'

10'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

6a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

C-2

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

 CHECKED: LPS

0 5' 20'

VERTICAL
GRAPHIC SCALE

1" =

10'

10' HORIZONTAL
GRAPHIC SCALE

1" =

0 5' 10' 20'

10'

37 of 92



38 of 92



W

W

W

W

S

S

S

S

S

W

S

S

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W

P4

P4

P4

P4

P4

P4

P4

C1

C1

C1

C1

C1C1

C1
C1

C1 C1

WS1WS1

WS1
WS1

WS1

B1

B1 B1

B1B1

B1
B1 B1

B1

B1

B1

B1

W1

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.4 0.6 1.0 1.2 2.5 2.5 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.9 2.9 3.6 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.3 2.8 7.7 4.5 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.2 2.5 3.1 0.5 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 1.3 0.4 1.0 0.6 14.0 5.7 1.8 4.2 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.3 5.0 0.8 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.4 1.4 0.9 0.6 0.4 0.4 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 3.5 0.6 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 3.4 0.1 0.3 2.3 0.6 0.6 5.1 42.9 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.4 3.2 1.3 0.2 0.7 0.6 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 1.0 1.0 0.8 0.8 2.1 3.3 3.0 2.1 0.9 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.8 2.1 4.1 2.7 1.3 0.4 0.1 0.0

.0 0.1 0.3 1.2 2.5 3.2 2.4 1.7 1.4 1.7 1.9 1.7 1.3 1.8 1.1 1.6 2.9 3.7 2.6 1.3 0.8 1.3 2.0 2.2 1.8 1.1 0.5 0.2 0.0

.0 0.1 0.4 1.0 1.4 1.5 1.4 1.3 1.3 1.2 1.0 0.9 0.9 0.9 1.1 1.8 2.2 2.2 1.9 1.5 1.2 1.3 1.5 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.4 0.2 0.0

.0 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.9 0.8 0.9 1.0 1.2 1.0 0.8 0.8 0.8 1.0 1.1 1.5 1.5 1.6 1.9 2.5 5.6 2.6 1.0 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.1 0.1

.0 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.8 1.0 1.2 1.1 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.0 1.1 1.4 1.8 2.2 2.4 1.9 0.9 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0

.0 0.1 0.3 0.7 1.0 1.1 1.2 1.3 1.3 1.4 1.7 2.1 1.9 1.4 0.9 1.3 2.6 3.7 2.9 1.5 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0

.0 0.1 0.3 0.8 1.5 2.2 2.6 2.1 1.3 1.5 2.6 3.8 2.5 1.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.4 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.1 0.5 1.6 2.5 2.8 1.0 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Luminaire Schedule
Symbol Qty Label Arrangement Description Tag LLF Luminaire

Lumens
Luminaire
Watts

Total
Watts

15 B1 Single WAC: 6643-30BZ 0.900 549 13.2336 198.504
11 C1 Single COOPER: RSQ4LS9FSD2W1EWH (900LM-3000K SELECTIONS) // WITH

H99ICAT OR OTHER COMPATIBLE HOUSING
CANOPY LIGHT // ADVISE IF DECORATIVE OVERLAY NEEDED 0.900 926 9.8 107.8

7 P4 Single COOPER: GALN-SA1A-830-U-SL4-BZ MOUNTED ON 12' VALMONT POLE: DS330-400Q120-D1-FP-COOPER BZ-FBC-AB 0.900 3599 33 231
1 W1 Single NLS: TWL-T3-16L-175-30K8-UNV-WM-CXX WALL MTD TO SHED, 8' AFG 0.900 1212 10 10
5 WS1 Single WAC: WS-W15918-BK WALL MTD 6' AFG 0.900 446 12.7897 63.948

Calculation Summary
Label CalcType Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min
ENTIRE AREA Illuminance Fc 0.31 42.9 0.0 N.A. N.A.
PARKING LOT Illuminance Fc 1.56 5.6 0.7 2.23 8.00

DATE:

PROJ. #:

LIGHTING
PLAN

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 5' 10' 20'

10'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

6a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

LT-1

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

 CHECKED: LPS39 of 92



W

W

W

W

S

S

S

S

S

S

W

S

S

S

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

P4_50

P4_50

P4_50

P4_50

P4_50

P4_50

P4_50

C1_50

C1_50

C1_50

C1_50C1_50

C1_50C1_50

C1_50
C1_50

C1_50C1_50

WS1_50WS1_50

WS1_50
WS1_50

WS1_50

B1_50

B1_50 B1_50

B1_50B1_50

B1_50
B1_50 B1_50

B1_50

B1_50

B1_50

B1_50
B1_50

B1_50
B1_50

W1_50

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.3 0.5 0.6 1.3 1.3 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.0 1.4 1.8 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.2 1.4 3.9 2.5 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.3 1.6 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 1.0 0.2 0.9 0.6 13.9 5.1 1.0 3.7 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 2.5 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.3 1.3 0.8 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 3.3 0.1 0.3 2.1 0.3 0.3 4.9 42.9 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 1.6 0.7 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.6 0.4 0.4 1.1 1.7 1.5 1.1 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.4 1.0 2.0 1.3 0.7 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.1 0.6 1.3 1.6 1.2 0.8 0.7 0.8 0.9 0.8 0.7 1.3 0.7 0.8 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.6 0.4 0.6 1.0 1.1 0.9 0.6 0.3 0.1 0.0 0.0

.0 0.1 0.2 0.5 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.9 1.1 1.1 1.0 0.7 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0

.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.8 0.8 1.0 1.2 2.8 1.3 0.5 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0

.0 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.7 0.9 1.1 1.2 1.0 0.5 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.6 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.9 1.0 1.0 0.7 0.4 0.6 1.3 1.8 1.5 0.8 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.1 0.4 0.7 1.1 1.3 1.0 0.7 0.7 1.3 1.9 1.2 0.5 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.1 0.3 0.8 1.2 1.4 0.5 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Luminaire Schedule
Symbol Qty Label Arrangement Description Tag LLF Luminaire

Lumens
Luminaire
Watts

Total
Watts

15 B1_50 Single WAC: 6643-30BZ DIMMED 50% 0.900 549 13.2336 198.504
11 C1_50 Single COOPER: RSQ4LS9FSD2W1EWH (900LM-3000K SELECTIONS) // WITH

H99ICAT OR OTHER COMPATIBLE HOUSING
DIMMED 50% // CANOPY LIGHT // ADVISE IF DECORATIVE OVERLAY NEEDED 0.450 926 9.8 107.8

7 P4_50 Single COOPER: GALN-SA1A-830-U-SL4-BZ DIMMED 50% // MOUNTED ON 12' VALMONT POLE: DS330-400Q120-D1-FP-
COOPER BZ-FBC-AB

0.450 3599 33 231

1 W1_50 Single NLS: TWL-T3-16L-175-30K8-UNV-WM-CXX DIMMED 50% // WALL MTD TO SHED, 8' AFG 0.450 1212 10 10
5 WS1_50 Single WAC: WS-W15918-BK DIMMED 50% // WALL MTD 6' AFG 0.450 446 12.7897 63.948

Calculation Summary
Label CalcType Units Avg Max Min Avg/Min Max/Min
ENTIRE AREA Illuminance Fc 0.19 42.9 0.0 N.A. N.A.
PARKING LOT Illuminance Fc 0.77 2.8 0.3 2.57 9.33

EXTERIOR LIGHTING TO BE REDUCED BY 50% BETWEEN 10PM AND 6AM PER
TOWN STANDARDS WITH A LIGHTING CONTROL PANEL/TIME CLOCK

DATE:

PROJ. #:

REDUCED
LIGHTING PLAN

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 5' 10' 20'

10'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

6a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

LT-2

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

 CHECKED: LPS40 of 92



W

W

W

W

W

100 YEAR FLOOD
ELEVATION LINE

ZO
N

E X
ZO

N
E AE

ZO
N

E AE

ZO
N

E X

RIM: 472.57INV N: 468.2INV S: 468.1

RIM: 472.20INV N: 467.6INV S:

S

S

S

S

S

RIM: 474.59INV W:471.1
RIM: 474.48INV N: 468.0INV E: 470.6INV S: 468.0INV NW: 470.8

RIM: 474.06INV SE: 470.7

RIM: 475.67INV W:472.0

RIM: 475.68INV N: 469.0INV E:471.4INV S:468.9

RIM: 475.14INV: 466.2

RIM
6" IN
15" IN
INV O

15" SDR 35

15" HDPE
15" CMP

12" CMP

12"CMP

6" CI

S

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

2 PE L.P.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7 8

9

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

0+
00

1+
00

2+
00

3+
00

4+
00

4+
70

0+
50

1+
50

2+
50

3+
50

4+
50

468

468

46
8

10 YEAR FLOOD LINE
ELEV=473.7

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

10

9

8

6

5

4

3

2

1

7

WF A1

WF A2 WF A6 - A1

WF B9

WF B10

DATE:

PROJ. #:

FLOOD STORAGE
COMPENSATION SITE PLAN

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 10' 20' 40'

20'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

6a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

XC-1

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

 CHECKED: LPS

48"
72"

72"

1

NONE OBSERVED

PIT DEPTH
TEST PITS

DEPTH TO LEDGE
DEPTH TO OBSERVED WATER
ESTIMATED SEASONAL HIGH WATER 48"

72"

72"

2

NONE OBSERVED

34"
115"

72"

3

NONE OBSERVED

48"
115"

72"

4

NONE OBSERVED

36"
60"

50"

5

NONE OBSERVED

36"
60"

48"

6

NONE OBSERVED

40"
84"

80"

7

NONE OBSERVED

48"
96"

72"

8

NONE OBSERVED

48"
86"

72"

9

NONE OBSERVED 41 of 92



O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

DATE:

PROJ. #:

FIRE TRUCK
MANEUVERING
EXHIBIT

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 5' 10' 20'

10'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

7a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

EX-1

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

 CHECKED: LPS42 of 92



O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

DATE:

PROJ. #:

DELIVERY TRUCK
MANEUVERING
EXHIBIT

GRAPHIC SCALE 1" =

0 5' 10' 20'

10'

D
ra

w
in

g 
na

m
e:

 P
:\P

ro
je

ct
\N

H
 P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\K

27
81

 S
he

ld
on

 P
en

no
ye

r A
rc

hi
te

ct
s\

D
w

g\
K2

78
1 

SI
TE

 1
1-

7-
24

.d
w

g 
  N

ov
 1

2,
  2

02
4 

- 9
:5

7a
m

c

N
O

.
R

EV
IS

IO
N

D
AT

E
D

W
N

C
H

K

SHEET

EX-2

N

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
HEADQUARTERS

MONADNOCK CONSERVANCY
KEENE, NEW HAMPSHIRE
15 EAGLE CT, 2ND FLOOR

-OCT- 2410

K2781K2781

DESIGN: LPS
DRAWN: LPS

SVE 2024

Engineering
Planning
Landscape Architecture
Surveying

SVE Associates
P.O. Box 1818
439 West River Road
Brattleboro, VT 05302
T   802.257.0561
F   802.257.0721
www.sveassoc.com

R.C.E. NUMBER: 13365
LIZA P. SARGENT DATE

 CHECKED: LPS43 of 92



A2.1

EX
TE

RI
OR

 E
LE

VA
TI

ON
S

44 of 92



A2.2

EX
TE

RI
OR

 E
LE

VA
TI

ON
S

45 of 92



46 of 92



47 of 92



SVE  Associates 

Engineering        *        Surveying         *         Landscape Architecture          *          Planning 
 
October 18, 2024 
 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner 
City of Keene, Community Development 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH  03431 
 
RE:  Floodplain Development, Monadnock Conservancy Headquarters, 0 Ashuelot Street 
 
Dear Mari: 
 
The Monadnock Conservancy would like to build their headquarters at 0 Ashuelot Street, on 
approximately 1 acre of the currently undeveloped 3.5-acre parcel owned by JRR Properties, LLC. This 
property is also the location of a former parking lot for overflow parking at a nearby shopping center.    

Based on FIRM Panel 33005C0266E, the majority of the property is located within the 100-year 
floodplain associated with the Ashuelot River and the 100-year floodplain elevation for the site is 474.8.  
The proposed building will be constructed on fill to bring it above the 100-year floodplain elevation, with 
the finish floor elevation proposed at 478.0.  The existing and proposed topography are shown on the 
attached plans.  All topography is based on field survey and not the flood maps.  

The existing grade of the building site for the pavilion and stage varies from approximately 473.4 to 
475.2.  The finished floor of the new building will be raised to be more than one foot above the 100-year 
floodplain elevation as required by Article 23 – Floodplain Regulations of the City of Keene Land 
Development Code. Since this building site is below the 100-year floodplain elevation, floodplain 
compensation is required for its construction.   

Flood storage will not be reduced by the proposed project, as compensatory storage will be provided by 
removing the existing 15” diameter corrugated metal culvert that runs from the north property line in the 
southerly direct to approximately the center of the property and replacing it with a riparian drainage 
swale. The volume of flood storage compensation is only from 474.8 down to 471.8. The shallowest 
depth to the seasonal high-water table was located in test pit #3 at 34” below existing grade, 474.3-2.8 = 
471.5.   

Wetlands exist on the adjacent property and are shown on the attached plan. No wetlands will be 
impacted by the proposed development, however there will be temporary wetland impacts for removing 
the existing 15” CMP culvert and constructing the riparian drainage swale.     

If there are any questions regarding the submitted material or more information is needed, please do not 
hesitate to contact me at 802-257-0561 or via email at lsargent@sveassoc.com.   
 
Sincerely, 
SVE Associates        
 
 
 
Liza Sargent, PE  

48 of 92



49 of 92



50 of 92



51 of 92



52 of 92



Fixture Type:

Catalog Number:

Project:

Location:

WAC Lighting retains the right to modify the design of our products at any time as part of the company's continuous improvement program.   

waclighting.com
Phone (800) 526.2588
Fax       (800) 526.2585

Headquarters/Eastern Distribution Center
44 Harbor Park Drive 
Port Washington, NY 11050

Central Distribution Center
1600 Distribution Ct
Lithia Springs, GA 30122

Western Distribution Center 
1750 Archibald Avenue 
Ontario, CA 91760

ARCHETYPE 12V/120V/277V LED BOLLARD 
6641/6642/6643

PRODUCT DESCRIPTION

Sleek linear design blends seamlessly into pathways while providing soft, 
even illumination

FEATURES

• IP66 rated, Protected against powerful water jets
• Factory sealed water tight fi xtures
• Mounting accessories included
• UL & cUL 1838 Listed (12V);  1598 Listed (120V/277V)

6643-____BZ

Example: 6643-30BZ

SPECIFICATIONS

6641
Input: 
Power:
Brightness:
CRI:
Rated Life:
Dimming:

6642
Input: 
Power:
Brightness:
CRI:
Rated Life:
Dimming:

6643
Input: 
Power:
Brightness:
CRI:
Rated Life:
Dimming:

9-15VAC (Transformer is required)
5.5W / 6.0VA
Up to 150 lm
90
60,000 hours
MLV dimming only

120V
12.5W
Up to 390 lm 
90
60,000 hours
TRIAC or ELV dimming

277V
10.5W
Up to 430 lm
90
60,000 hours
ELV dimming only

Model Color Temp Finishes

 6641 12V
27

30

2700K Warm White

3000K Pure White

BZ

BK

Bronze on Aluminum

Black on Aluminum

 6642 120V
27

30

2700K Warm White

3000K Pure White

BZ

BK

Bronze on Aluminum

Black on Aluminum

 6643 277V
27

30

2700K Warm White

3000K Pure White

BZ

BK

Bronze on Aluminum

Black on Aluminum

27"

6"

6"

3"

4"

120V/277V

Mounting accessory included

M6000-STAKE
12V

M6640-CON-KIT

53 of 92



Project Catalog # Type

Prepared by Notes Date

PS500052EN   page 1
August 8, 2024 2:44 PM

Quick Facts
• Lumen packages range from 3,300 - 73,500 (33W - 552W)
• 17 optical distributions
• Efficacy up to 159 lumens per watt

Interactive Menu
• Ordering Information page 2

• Mounting Details page 3

• Optical Distributions page 5

• Product Specifications page 5

• Energy and Performance Data page 6

• Control Options page 11

Dimensional Details

Area / Site Luminaire

McGraw-Edison  
GALN Galleon II

"A"
9-1/2" 

[241mm]"B"

"A"

"B"
9 1/2"

241mm

3-3/4"
[94mm]

"A"
9-1/2" 

[241mm]"B"

"A"

"B"
9 1/2"

241mm

3-3/4"
[94mm]

Number of  
Light Squares Width "A" Housing Length "B"  Weight with Standard or 

QM Arm
EPA with Standard  

or QM Arm

1-4 16" 22" 29 lb 0.95

5-6 22" 22" 39 lb 0.95

7-9 22" 28-1/8" 48 lb 1.1

NOTES: 
For arm selection requirements and additional line art, see Mounting Details section.

Connected Systems
• Wavelinx LITE Wireless
• Wavelinx PRO Wireless

Standard Pole Mount Arm

Light ARchitectTM

NOTES: 
1. Visit https://www.designlights.org/search/ to confirm qualification. Not all product variations are DLC qualified.   
2. IDA Certified (3000K CCT and warmer only, fixed mounting options)

 1 

 2

 1 

Product Certifications

Product Features

AVAIL ABLE

CO

MPLIANT OPTIONS

BAA
BUY AMERICAN ACT

Pole Drilling Pattern
Type "N"TYPE "N"

3/4" [19mm]
Diameter

Hole

(2) 9/16" [14mm]
Diameter

Holes

1-3/4"
[44mm]

7/8" [22mm]

2"
[51mm]

54 of 92

https://www.cooperlighting.com/global/brands/wavelinx/lite
https://www.cooperlighting.com/global/brands/wavelinx/pro
https://www.cooperlighting.com/global/solutions/technologies/light-architect
https://www.designlights.org/search/


701 Kingshill Place, Carson, CA 90746
Call Us Today (310) 341-2037 nlslighting.com

Form
• Elegant Rectilinear Extruded 
  Aluminum Housing
• Corrosion Resistant Stainless 
  Steel External Hardware
• Sleek, Low Profile Housing
• Spec Grade Performance
• Engineered For Optimum 
  Thermal Management
• 8 Architectural Finishes 
  Standard, RAL Colors Available

Function
• Micro Optics IES Distributions 
  T2, T3, T4 
• 0-10V Dimming Drivers 
  THD @ Max Load < 15%
  Power factor @ Max Load < 0.95
• Amber, 2700K, 3000K, 3500K, 
  4000K, or 5000K
• 16L LED Configuration
• 10-56 Watts
• CRI 70, 80, or 90
• Extruded Aluminum Heat Sink
• 5 Mils Powder Coat

Reliability
• Silicone Micro Optics
• 5 Year Standard Warranty
• IP67 Optics
• Reduces Energy Consumption And 
  Costs Up To 65%

TRAC LINEAR
WALL MOUNT

TWL

1

LED WATTAGE CHART

16L

175 milliamps 10w (1206-1273 Lumens)

400 milliamps 21w (2478-2911 Lumens)

530 milliamps 28w (3508-3776 Lumens)

700 milliamps 36w (4385-4720 Lumens)

1050 milliamps 56w (6022-6482 Lumens)

REV. 11.02.23

BUY AMERICAN
To ensure the latest BAA/TAA/BABA Standards are 
being met, please select BAA, TAA, or BABA in the 
options section. Please contact the factory before 
placing an order for any NLS products requesting BAA 
(Buy American Act), TAA (Trade American Act), or BABA 
(Build America, Buy America).

55 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

PB-2024-16 – SITE PLAN – KIA SITE REDEVELOPMENT, 440 WINCHESTER ST 
 
Request: 

Applicant Hutter Construction Corp, on behalf of owner 434-440 Winchester LLC, proposes to 
construct a new ~15,365-sf Kia dealership in place of the existing ~9,950-sf building and make 
associated site modifications on the property at 440 Winchester St (TMP #115-004-000). A 
Surface Water CUP is requested for temporary impacts within the 30’ wetland buffer. Waivers are 
requested from Article 20.14.3.D, Article 21.7.3.C, and Article 21.7.4.A.1 of the LDC to allow for 
parking in front of the building and higher lighting levels. The parcel is 2.23-ac in size and is 
located in the Commerce Limited District. 
 
Background: 

The Kia Dealership at 440 Winchester St (TMP #115-004-000) is located to the south of the Route 
101 & Winchester St (Route 10) intersection. Car dealerships owned by the same entity, 434-440 
Winchester LLC, abut the subject parcel to the north and south. A mix of residential and 
commercial uses are located to the west near Wetmore St & Fairbanks St while vacant land is 
located to the east.  
 
The subject parcel is 2.23-ac in size with ~134 feet of frontage along Winchester St. Access to 
the site is from a curb cut shared between the two properties to the south located at 446 & 452 
Winchester St. The rear (eastern) portion of the site has an area of wetlands, which requires that 
a 30’ surface water buffer be maintained in the Commerce Limited District where this parcel is 
located. Figure 2 shows the existing layout of the Kia site. 
 

As part of this application, the applicant proposes to demolish the existing ~9,950-sf building and 
construct a new ~15,365-sf building behind the existing building. Construction will be completed 
in phases with the new building being constructed first and the old building being demolished 
afterwards to allow the car dealership to remain open for as long as possible. Associated site 

56 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

improvements will include the installation of new landscaping on the western portion of the site 
near Winchester St, the addition of new parking spaces in the area where the existing building is 
located, and the reconfiguration of the layout of existing parking spaces at the front of the site 
and around the perimeter of the new building.  
 
Due to the fact that the entire site is located within the floodplain, the applicant is proposing to 
lower the grading of the site in the area where the existing building is located near Winchester St 
as well as at the rear of the site within the 30’ surface water buffer. A Surface Water Conditional 
Use Permit (CUP) was initially submitted as part of this application; however, it was later 
discovered that this is unnecessary because Article 11.5.L of the Land Development Code (LDC) 
allows for excavation within the surface water buffer as part of the construction of compensatory 
flood storage subject to the issuance of a Floodplain Development Permit.  
 
The applicant has requested waivers from Article 20.14.3.D of the LDC to allow for parking in front 
of the new building and Article 21.7.3.C & Article 21.7.4.A.1 of the LDC to allow for lighting levels 
above the required maximums. 
 
Determination of Regional Impact: 

After reviewing the application, staff have made a preliminary evaluation that the proposed site 
plan does not appear to have the potential for “regional impact” as defined in RSA 36:55. The 
Board will need to make a final determination as to whether the proposal, if approved, could have 
the potential for regional impact. 
 
Completeness: 

The applicant has requested exemptions from submitting a traffic analysis, soil analysis, historic 
evaluation, and screening analysis. After reviewing each request, staff have made the preliminary 
determination that granting the requested exemptions would have no bearing on the merits of the 
application and recommend that the Board accept the application as “complete.” 
 
Departmental Comments: 

 Code Enforcement Staff Comments: Building Permit & Floodplain Development Permit 
applications will need to be submitted for the proposed site redevelopment. 

 Zoning Staff Comments:  

o A detailed maintenance plan for the porous pavement will need to be submitted to 
ensure that this area of the site does not become impervious.  

o The applicant should be prepared to discuss the proposed alternative interior 
landscape design that deviates from the requirements for parking lots with 50+ 
spaces per Article 9.4.5.B of the LDC. 

 
Application Analysis: The following is a review of the Planning Board development standards 
relevant to this application.  

 
Article 21.2 – Drainage & Stormwater Management: The project narrative states that the applicant 
is proposing to use the existing drainage structures on the northern portion of the site that outlet 
into an existing drainage ditch near the northeastern corner of the site. Note #4 on the proposed 
conditions plan on Sheet 3 of the plan set shows that the amount of green space on the site will 

57 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

be increased from ~23.9% to 27.6%. An additional ~8.6% of the site will be covered with pervious 
asphalt, increasing the overall amount of green space on the site by ~12.3%. 
 
During the review of this application, Zoning Staff requested that the applicant submit a detailed 
maintenance plan for the porous pavement proposed to be installed behind the new building on 
the rear portion of the site to ensure that it does not become impervious. The applicant has 
submitted an inspection and maintenance manual, which is included as an attachment to this 
staff report. The plan was reviewed by the City Engineer, who did not have any concerns. The 
second page of the manual recommends that inspections be performed every couple of weeks 
and after large storm events within the first year following construction to ensure that the site 
and slopes remain stabilized.  
 
Planning Staff recommend that the Board include a condition of approval that all inspection 
reports be submitted to the Community Development Department for review and approval by the 
City Engineer’s Office one year after the completion of construction. To ensure that these 
inspections are completed, Planning Staff also recommend that the Board require the submittal 
of a security to cover the cost of performing all inspections during the course of this year as a 
condition of approval. In addition, staff recommend that the submittal of an annual maintenance 
report to the Community Development Department and the submittal of an updated grading plan 
with a note added stating that an annual inspection and maintenance report for the porous 
pavement on the rear portion of the site shall be submitted to the Community Development 
Department be included as conditions of approval. This standard appears to be met. 
 

Article 21.3 - Sediment & Erosion Control: The project narrative states that the proposed sediment 
and erosion control measures include the installation of silt fencing, catch basin silt socks, and 
rip rap aprons, which are shown on the grading plan on Sheet 4 of the plan set. This plan shows 

58 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

the installation of the double row of silt fencing within the 30’ surface water buffer at the rear of 
the site, which can be seen in Figures 2 & 3. The installation of erosion control measures within 
the surface water buffer would normally require the submittal of a Surface Water CUP as part of 
the application materials; however, because this fencing is being installed to protect the adjacent 
wetland from excavation within the buffer related to compensatory flood storage, no CUP is 
required per Section 11.5.L of the LDC.  
 
Planning Staff recommend that the Board include a condition of approval related to the flagging 
and inspection of the 30’ buffer by Community Development Staff prior to the commencement of 
site work. Additionally, the submittal of a security for the installation and maintenance of the 
erosion control measures during construction is also recommended to be included as a condition 
of approval. This standard appears to be met. 
 
Article 21.4 - Snow Storage & Removal: The proposed conditions plan on Sheet 3 of the plan set 
shows a snow storage area near the northeastern corner of the parcel and states that snow will 
not be stored within the wetlands or surface water buffer and will be hauled off the site, if needed. 
This standard appears to be met.  
 
Article 21.5 - Landscaping: The landscaping plan on Sheet 7 of the plan set shows the installation 
of rhododendron, winterberry, and nannyberry viburnum shrubs in landscaping islands on the 
western portion of the site near Winchester St. Article 9.4 of the LDC outlines the design standards 
for perimeter and internal parking lot landscaping areas and typically requires that trees and other 
shrubs are installed on site to screen the parking lot from view of adjacent properties and the 
public right-of-way. Article 9.4.4.A.6 & Article 9.4.5.B.5 of this article grant the Planning Board the 
authority to approve an alternative landscaping plan, if they feel that the proposed design 
generally meets the intent of Article 9.4. 
 
The project narrative states that the applicant does not want trees installed near the building due 
to leaves and birds causing issues with new car finishes. The Board will need to determine if the 
landscaping shown on Sheet 7 of the plan set meets the intent of the parking lot landscaping 
requirements outlined under Article 9.4 of the LDC. Planning Staff recommend that the Board 
include conditions of approval related to the submittal of a security to cover the cost of the 
landscaping and its installation as well as the performance of an initial inspection following the 
installation of landscaping and a final landscaping after 1 growing season (a minimum of 1 year). 
 
Article 21.6 - Screening: The project narrative states that the mechanical equipment will be set 
back 10’ from the edge of the roof and that the proposed building design incorporates a roof 
parapet that will range from ~8” tall at the front of the building to ~40” tall at the rear of the 
building as shown in the elevations included as an attachment to this staff report. This standard 
appears to be met. 
 
Article 21.7 - Lighting: The photometric plan on Sheet 6 of the plan set shows that the applicant 
is proposing to install a total of thirteen, 20’-tall full cut-off pole light fixtures with a color 
temperature of 3,000K and a CRI of 80. An additional 8 full cut-off wall pack light fixtures with a 
color temperature of 3,000K and a CRI of 80 will be installed at a maximum height of 14’ around 
the perimeter of the new building. Note #6 on the photometric plan states that the average 
illumination levels will not exceed an average of 1-fc between the hours of 10:00 pm and 6:00 am.  
 

59 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

The applicant has requested a waiver from Article 21.7.3.C of the LDC to allow for lighting levels 
that exceed0.1-fc at the property line and 1-fc at the right-of-way line. An additional waiver from 
Article 21.7.4.A.1 of the LDC has also been requested to allow for an average lighting level above 
3.5-fc in the display parking spaces at the front of the site adjacent to Winchester St. The written 
waiver requests are included in the project narrative that was submitted by the applicant. In 
determining whether or not to grant the requested waivers, the Board will need to review the 
waiver criteria outlined under Article 26.12.14.A of the LDC, which are included below. 
 

Article 26.12.14 - Waiver Criteria: 

A. “Unless otherwise set forth in this LDC, the Planning Board may grant a waiver from strict 
compliance with provisions of the Site Development Standards in Article 21 or site plan 
review standards in Section 26.12, on a case by case basis, so long as the Board finds, by 
majority vote, that:  
1. Strict conformity would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver 

would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or,  
2. Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in such site 

plan, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of the 
regulations.  

3. In granting a waiver, the Planning Board may require any mitigation that is reasonable 
and necessary to ensure that the spirit and intent of the standard being waived will be 
preserved, and to ensure that no increase in adverse impacts associated with granting 
the waiver will occur.” 

 
Article 21.8 - Sewer & Water: The City’s GIS Database shows that the site is currently served by 
City water and sewer utilities. The project narrative states that the new building will require 
extensions of the water and sewer lines on the site, which will be coordinated during the 
demolition process of the existing building. This standard appears to be met. 
 
Article 21.9 - Traffic & Access Management: The project narrative states that there are no new 
permanent curb cuts proposed as part of this project and that there will be no increase in traffic 
generation expected as a result of the project. The grading plan shows the construction of a 
temporary stabilized construction entrance/exit onto the site from Winchester St. Engineering 
Staff reviewed the proposed installation of this temporary curb cut as part of this application and 
had no comments. As mentioned previously in this staff report, Planning Staff recommend 
including a condition of approval related to the submittal of security for the installation and 
maintenance of sediment and erosion control measures. 
 
The project narrative states that the construction process will be phased so that the new building 
will first be constructed behind the existing building and then the old dealership will be 
demolished at the front of the site. This will allow the car dealership to remain open for as long 
as possible during the construction process. In order to ensure that the site will maintain safe and 
adequate access during the construction process, Planning Staff recommend including a 
condition of approval related to the submittal of a construction phasing plan to the Community 
Development Department for review and approval by City Staff prior to the issuance of a building 
permit. Additionally, it is recommended that a condition of approval related to holding a pre-
construction meeting with City Staff prior to the issuance of a building permit also be included.  
 

60 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

In addition, the applicant is proposing to add parking spaces in the footprint of the existing 
building and reconfigure the layout of existing spaces along the northern and eastern (rear) sides 
of the building. Given that access to the rear of the site will require that vehicles travel over the 
adjacent parcels to the north and south, which are currently owned by the same entity, 434-440 
Winchester LLC, Planning Staff recommend that the Board include conditions of approval related 
to the submittal of draft access easement language as well as any other necessary easements 
or required legal instruments to the Community Development Department for review by the City 
Attorney’s Office. This standard appears to be met.  
 
Article 21.10 - Filling & Excavation: The project narrative states that the site falls entirely within 
the 100-year floodplain, which will require that the site be regraded and fill be added to certain 
areas. The area of the existing building and a section of the rear of the site will be lowered in 
grade to provide flood compensation. The proposed conditions plan shows the installation of 
double silt fencing in a north-south orientation within the 30’ surface water buffer at the rear of 
the site. The applicant is aware that a Floodplain Permit will need to be obtained as part of this 
project. Planning Staff recommend including a condition of approval related to the submittal of 
an approved Floodplain Development Permit. 
 
Article 21.11 - Surface Waters & Wetlands: As mentioned previously, the proposed conditions 
plan shows the location of wetlands and the 30’ surface water buffer on the rear (easternmost) 
portion of the site. Other than the installation of silt fencing within the 30’ buffer, all other site 
work appears to be taking place outside of the wetlands buffer. Planning Staff recommend that 
a condition of approval be included related to the flagging and inspection of the 30’ surface water 
buffer prior to the commencement of site work. This standard appears to be met.  
 
Article 21.12 - Hazardous & Toxic Materials: The project narrative states that items considered 
toxic, including oils, lubricants, brake fluid, etc., will be stored inside the building and handled 
according to state regulations. This standard appears to be met. 
 
Article 21.13 - Noise: The narrative states that there will not be no difference in the amount of 
noise generated on the site. This standard appears to be met. 

 
Article 21.14 - Architecture & Visual Appearance: The applicant submitted renderings and 
elevations showing the proposed design for the building exterior, which will feature metal 
paneling in a gray, black, silver, and white color scheme with glass accents. The project narrative 
includes a description of the building’s design and how the architect feels that it complies with 

61 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

the standards. In this section of the narrative, the architect states that a breakup of the massing 
of the north building façade, which is over 150’-long, will be achieved using a change in materials.  
 
Similarly, a breakup in the massing of the south façade will be achieved with a building projection 
and material change. The west façade where the main entrance will be located will have a framed 
portal that will bring the curtainwall massing down to a pedestrian scale and provide visual 
interest. This section of the narrative also states that the “façade material palette” was dictated 
by Kia. In reviewing this application, the Board will need to make a determination as to whether 
or not the proposed building design complies with the standards outlined under this section of 
the code. 
 
In addition to the exterior building design, the applicant is requesting a waiver from Article 
20.14.3.D of the LDC to allow for the creation of additional parking at the front of the new building. 
In making a determination as to whether or not to grant the requested waiver, the Board will need 
to evaluate the criteria included previously in this staff report. 
 
Recommended Motion:  
 
If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended:  
 

“Approve PB-2024-16 as shown on the plan set identified as “Site Redevelopment Plans, 
Fairfield Kia of Keene” prepared by Fieldstone Land Consultants PLLC, at varying scales on 
October 18, 2024 and last revised on November 11, 2024 with the following conditions: 

 
1. Prior to final approval and signature of the plans by the Planning Board Chair, the following 

conditions precedent shall be met: 

a. Owner’s signature appears on the title page and proposed conditions plan. 

b. Submittal of five paper copies and a digital copy of the final plan set and elevations. 

c. Submittal of a security to cover the cost of sediment and erosion control measures, 
landscaping, drainage inspections, and as-built plans in a form and amount 
acceptable to the Community Development Director and City Engineer. 

d. Submittal of an updated grading plan with a note added stating that annual 
drainage inspections shall be performed, and documentation of such shall be 
submitted to the Community Development Department. 

e. Submittal of draft easement language and any other legal instruments required for 
this application to the Community Development Department for review by the City 
Attorney’s Office. 

2. Subsequent to final approval and signature of the plans, the following conditions shall be 
met: 

a. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall: 

i. Schedule a pre-construction meeting with City Staff to review the project. 

ii. Submit a construction phasing plan showing the proposed traffic, access, 
and safety measures that will be put in place during the project for review 
and approval by City Staff. 

62 of 92



STAFF REPORT 
 

b. Prior to the commencement of site work, the applicant shall: 

i. Submit an approved Floodplain Development Permit. 

ii. Flag the 30’ surface water buffer and contact Planning staff to inspect to 
ensure compliance with the approved site plan and all City of Keene 
regulations. 

 
c. Prior to the issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy for the new building, the 

applicant shall submit recorded copies of all necessary easements to the 
Community Development Department. 

d. One year after the completion of construction, copies of all drainage reports and 
inspection materials shall be submitted to the Community Development 
Department. 

e. Annual maintenance inspections shall be performed, and documentation of such 
shall be submitted to the Community Development Department. 

f. After landscaping has been installed, the applicant shall schedule an initial 
landscaping inspection with Community Development Staff. 

g. After 1 full growing season (a minimum of 1 year), Community Development Staff 
shall be contacted to schedule a final landscaping inspection.” 

63 of 92



64 of 92



65 of 92



66 of 92



67 of 92



68 of 92



69 of 92



70 of 92



71 of 92



72 of 92



73 of 92



74 of 92



75 of 92



76 of 92



77 of 92



78 of 92



79 of 92



80 of 92



81 of 92



82 of 92



83 of 92



84 of 92



85 of 92



86 of 92



87 of 92



88 of 92



89 of 92



90 of 92



91 of 92



92 of 92


	2024_11_25_pb_agenda
	City of Keene Planning Board
	AGENDA
	Monday, November 25, 2024  6:30 PM City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers
	I. Call to Order – Roll Call
	II. Minutes of Previous Meeting – October 28, 2024

	2024_10_28_PB_Minures_ED Edits
	November_Final Approval Recommendations Memo
	PB-2024-15_Monadnock Conservancy_Staff Report
	Monadnock Conservancy Mini-Packet
	Application_Rec. 10-18-24
	Narrative_Rec. 10-18-24
	Plan Set_REVISED_Rec. 11-18-24_REDUCED
	Elevations_Rec. 10-18-24_REDUCED
	Renderings_Rec. 10-18-24_REDUCED
	Flood Compensation Letter_Rec. 10-18-24
	Drainage Narrative_REVISED_Rec. 11-12-24
	Landscape Lighting Cut Sheet_Rec. 10-18-24
	Parking Lot Light Fixture Cut Sheet_Rec. 10-18-24
	Trac Linear Wall Mounted Light Fixture Cut Sheet_Rec. 10-18-24

	PB-2024-16_Kia_Staff Report
	PB-2024-16_Kia_Mini-Packet (NO SR)
	Narrative & Waiver Requests_REVISED_Rec. 11-12-24
	Plan Set_REVISED_Rec. 11-14-24_REDUCED
	Drainage Report_Rec. 10-18-24
	Stormwater Management System Inspection & Maintenance Manual_Rec. 11-12-24
	Wallpack Light Fixture Cut Sheet_Rec. 11-12-24
	Parking Lot Pole Light FIxture_Rec. 11-12-24


	PS500020EN-2: 
	PS500020EN-4: 
	Date : 
	PS500020EN-1: 
	PS500020EN-3: 
	PS500020EN-5: 


